# Sustainable Materials for Roofing Applications: Mechanical Properties of Recycled PET and Coir Composite

by

Enis Agyeman Boateng

### A Thesis

submitted to

## WORCESTER POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

in

Science and Technology for Innovation in Global Development

May 2024

**APPROVED**:

Professor Robert Krueger, Advisor

Professor Winston Soboyejo

## Abstract

One of the most effective ways to manage post-consumer PET waste is through recycling, significantly reducing its environmental impact. By repurposing recycled PET as an alternative material in construction, we not only address environmental pollution but also contribute to producing cost-effective construction materials. This dual benefit underscores the importance of our research in the context of sustainable materials and construction technologies.

Composite materials have long been effective substitutes for conventional materials in various applications. Fiber-reinforced polymer composites stand out for their high strength-to-weight ratio and modulus. This study further explores the potential of coir, a natural fiber, as a recycled PET matrix reinforcement. Such a composite could pave the way for more sustainable and cost-effective construction materials.

The objective is to study the mechanical properties of the coir-reinforced recycled PET composite. The coir fibers were treated with distilled hot water before being incorporated into the recycled PET matrix. The composite was fabricated using compression molding with varying fiber-to-matrix ratios of randomly oriented fiber at 90-10 weight %, 80-20 weight %, and 70-30 weight %, respectively.

The study employs analysis using SEM imaging, Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy, and tensile testing to understand the composite's physical structure, chemical composition, and mechanical behavior. Morphological examinations reveal the interaction between coconut fiber and PET, shedding light on their compatibility and potential for reinforcement.

Adding fiber improved mechanical properties like tensile strength and elongation at break. The amount of fiber in the composite's total weight exhibited different mechanical properties. FTIR analysis elucidates the composite's chemical composition, highlighting the influence of coconut fiber, rPET, and processing conditions.

# Acknowledgements.

I want to extend my deepest gratitude to my advisors, Professor Rober Krueger and Professor Winston Wole Soboyejo, for giving me the opportunity to explore this field and guiding and mentoring me throughout my research journey. I appreciate your unyielding kindness and patience. Their expertise and insightful feedback have invaluably shaped my academic growth.

I am also indebted to Dr Tabiri Asumadu, Sarah Osafo, and Precious Etinosa for their steadfast support and understanding during the challenging phases of this journey. Their belief in my abilities kept me focused and motivated. I want to thank Emmanuel Opoku for his support, and I am grateful for your flexibility with my schedule and desire to help me in every way possible.

I want to thank my brothers, Nelson Boateng, Elvis Okyere, and Kwame Agyeman, for their unwavering support and words of encouragement. I would also like to thank my sisters, Theonoara and Theodora Agyeman, for their love and being there for me. Words cannot fully express my debt of gratitude. To my parents, Gladys and Kwaku Agyeman Boateng, your belief in me, even during the most difficult times, has been my greatest inspiration.

I deeply appreciate everyone who has contributed to this thesis in various ways. Your contributions have made this possible, and I am truly thankful.

## Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	ii
List of Figures	v
List of Abbreviations	vi
List of Tables	vii
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Background	1
1.2. Problem Statement	2
1.3. Aims and Objectives	3
1.4 Scope of Study	4
1.5. Significance of the Study	5
1.6. Methodology Overview	5
1.7. Outline	6
2. Literature Review	7
2.1. Urbanization and Roofing Materials	7
2.2. Composite Materials in Construction	8
2.2.1. Polymer Recycling	9
2.3. Sustainable Composite Materials	14
2.4. Natural Fiber-Reinforced Composite Materials for Roofing Applications	21
2.5. Natural Fiber Composite Fabrication	22
2.5.1. Compression Molding	23
2.5.2. Injection molding	24
2.5.3. Resin Transfer Molding (RTM)	24
2.5.4. 3D Printing	26
2.5.5. Extrusion	27
2.6. Research Gaps and Opportunities	28
3. Methodology	30
3.1. Materials	30
3.2 Materials Processing and Composite Fabrication	33
3.3. Laboratory Testing	40
3.3.1. Tensile Testing	40
3.3.2. Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy	42
3.3.3. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	43
3.4. Data Analysis	46

3.4.1. Mechanical Testing Data Analysis	46
3.4.2. Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) Spectroscopy Analysis	46
3.4.3. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) Data Analysis	46
3.5. Methodological Limitations	47
4. Results	49
4.1. Tensile Properties of Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite	49
4.2. Morphology of Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite	53
4.3 FTIR of Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite	58
5. Discussion	61
6. Conclusion	63
References	64

# **List of Figures**

Figure 2.1. Hierarchy of preferred waste management methods from most to least favored (Rucknell, 2020)	d 10
Eigure 2.2 Diagram illustrating the life cycle of plastics (Buckhall, 2020)	11
Figure 2.3 The change of properties with respect to thermal processing cycles for PP and	
thermo-mechanical processing cycles (Delva et al. 2014) and (La Mantia & Vinci 1994)	
respectively. The graph in (a) shows how MEI (open circles) and Young's modulus (closed	4
squares) change with PP. Meanwhile (b) shows the variations in PET's modulus (closed	
triangles) impact strength (open squares) and strain to failure (closed circles)	13
Figure 2.4 Classification of fiber reinforcements (Ahmad et al. 2019)	15
Figure 2.5. Typical fiber reinforcement types (Javan et al. 2021)	16
Figure 2.6. (a) Schematic fiber orientation and distribution variations due to material flow	
during NFRC processing (Gallos et al., 2017).	. 23
Figure 2.7. Resin Transfer Molding (RTM) (Kangishwar et al., 2023).	. 26
Fig 2.8. Schematic diagram showing (a) compression molding, (b) injection molding, and	(c)
extrusion of NFRCs (Balla et al., 2019).	. 28
Figure 3.1. Coconut fibers.	. 31
Figure 3.2. Post-consumer PET.	. 32
Figure 3.3. Shredded and cleaned waste PET.	. 34
Figure 3.4. Coir treatment in distilled water.	. 35
Figure 3.5. Cleaned and trimmed coir.	. 36
Figure 3.6. Compressed randomly oriented coir	. 37
Figure 3.7. Mold inside box furnace for compression molding	. 39
Figure 3.8. Coir Reinforced rPET composite	. 40
Figure 3.9. Instron 5500 for tensile testing.	. 41
Figure 3.10. CRPC dog bone-shaped samples.	. 42
Figure 3.11. IRSpirit FTIR Spectrophotometer.	.43
Figure 3.12. Scanning Electron Microscope, JSM-7000F	. 45
Figure 4.1. Stress-strain curves of Coir-Reinforced rPET Composites at various fiber ratio	s.
	. 50
Figure 4.2. Ultimate Tensile Strength.	. 50
Figure 4.3. Elongation at the break.	. 51
Figure 4.4. Yield strength.	.52
Figure 4.5 Young's Modulus	.52
Figure 4.6 (a, b and c). SEM images of 10-weight % fiber	. 54
Figure 4.7 (a, b and c). SEM images of 20-weight % fiber	. 56
Figure 4.8 (a, b, c). SEM images of 30-weight % fiber	. 58
Figure 4.9. FTIR of CRPC shows the various absorbance peaks and wavenumbers	. 59

# List of Abbreviations

PET	Polyethylene Terephthalate		
rPET	Recycled Polyethylene Terephthalate		
HDPE	High Density Polyethylene		
TGA	Thermogravimetric Analysis		
SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy		
FTIR	Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy		
TGA	Thermogravimetric Analysis		
РМС	Polymer Matrix Composite		
NaOH	Sodium Hydroxide		
RTM	Resin Transfer Molding		
PLA	Polylactic Acid		
BHET	bis(2-hydroxyethyl) terephthalate		
TBD	1,5,7-triazabicyclo [4.4.0] dec-5-ene		
MFI	Melt Flow Index		
NRPC	Natural Fiber-Reinforced Polymer Composite		
CRPC	Coir-reinforced recycled PET Composite		
Кра	kilopascal		
МРа	Megapascal		
PSI	Pounds per Square Inch		

# **List of Tables**

Table 1. Physical and mechanical properties of natural fibers (Sapuan, 2021)	. 17
Table 2. Physical treatment for modifying natural fibers (Nurazzi et al., 2021)	. 20
Table 3. Functional Groups and Corresponding Wavenumbers	. 59

# **1. Introduction**

## 1.1. Background

The construction industry, one of the world's largest and most resource-intensive sectors, has a significant environmental impact. This impact spans from the extraction of raw materials to the construction process and, ultimately, to the disposal of building materials at the end of their service life. Such practices often lead to excessive waste generation, resource depletion, and environmental degradation. These concerns are only exacerbated by global urbanization trends. The United Nations predicts that approximately 68% of the world's population will reside in urban areas by 2050 (DESA, 2018).

Countries like Ghana, with a population of 30.8 million (World Bank., 2024)., face a critical challenge in providing adequate housing. The UN Human Rights Council (UNHRC) estimated in 2018 that Ghana's housing deficit was 2.4 million (UNHRC, 2018). This deficit is partly due to the high cost of building materials (Danso & Manu, 2013), which account for 50% of total construction costs in the country (Ofori, 2020). The country's over-reliance on imported raw materials for buildings, which could be replaced with local substitutes (Ofori, 2020), further exacerbates these costs.

These challenges underscore the urgent need to reevaluate conventional practices, particularly considering their adverse environmental impacts and economic implications. However, as the detrimental effects of linear economies become increasingly apparent, there is a growing call for alternative materials and practices. These alternatives promise to promote environmental sustainability and align with the goals of a circular economy, offering a glimmer of hope in the face of these pressing issues.

In this context, materials science research is producing innovative construction materials to address these global challenges. Roofing materials, vital for protection, insulation, and aesthetics in building construction, are a key area of focus. However, conventional roofing materials such as metal, clay, concrete, and asphalt have several significant drawbacks. These include high cost, weight, low durability, high maintenance, and a significant environmental impact. For instance, installing metal roofing for a 1,700-square-foot roof costs approximately

\$13,200 (Forbes, 2024). These escalating costs present financial challenges for homeowners and construction projects, underscoring the need for more sustainable alternatives.

The initial investment in metal roofing and its installation can be prohibitively high (Smith, 2023). The high temperatures in areas like Ghana can cause thermal expansion and contraction of roofing materials, resulting in cracking and other damages. The ongoing maintenance and repair costs of metal roofing can further strain finances.

The production process of corrugated metal roofing materials has notable environmental effects, especially concerning energy use and emissions. This process is divided into stages: raw material extraction, transportation to manufacturers, and manufacturing. The initial carbon emissions associated with corrugated metal roofing are primarily concentrated at these stages, underscoring the importance of thoroughly studying the cradle-to-gate impact (Le et al., 2019).

#### **1.2. Problem Statement**

Corrugated metal roofing has been associated with adverse environmental and economic impacts, mainly caused by the extraction and processing of non-renewable materials like steel and aluminum. Resource depletion, habitat destruction, and greenhouse gas emissions have raised concerns about climate change and environmental degradation (Parker, 2024). Furthermore, the disposal of these materials at the end of their lifespan has led to landfill accumulation and environmental pollution.

The high costs of conventional roofing materials, particularly metal roofing, pose significant financial challenges for homeowners, contributing to the housing deficit (Ofori, 2020). The initial costs of purchasing and installing metal roofing can be prohibitive for many individuals and organizations (Smith, 2023), limiting the availability of durable and weather-resistant roofing options. Additionally, the ongoing costs of maintaining and repairing metal roofing, like managing corrosion and replacing fasteners, can further strain finances over time.

Sustainable and cost-effective alternatives should be developed to address the challenges posed by conventional roofing materials. These alternatives should prioritize using renewable resources, minimize environmental impacts throughout their lifecycle, and be competitively priced compared to traditional options. Opting for sustainable roofing materials can help homeowners and construction professionals reduce their ecological footprint and achieve longterm cost savings due to reduced maintenance and energy expenses. Promoting sustainable roofing alternatives can also contribute to wider sustainability objectives, such as climate change mitigation, natural resource conservation, and promoting resilient communities and sustainable development.

Composite materials have emerged as a sustainable solution, offering efficient energy and material use due to their unique chemical and mechanical properties. Composites are materials formed by combining two or more materials with significantly different physical or chemical properties. These materials combine to endow the composite with unique properties (Ngo, 2020). Composites are known for their long lifespan, high corrosion resistance, low maintenance, high strength-to-weight ratio, high stiffness (Zabihi et al., 2020), and design flexibility. They have become a part of our daily lives, finding applications in various sectors, including construction and transportation.

#### **1.3.** Aims and Objectives

The inception of this work stems from a critical recognition of two overarching global issues: the persistent concerns surrounding waste management practices and the burgeoning demand for sustainable building materials. As global urbanization continues to surge, so does the volume of waste generated, further exacerbating the existing waste management crisis. The proliferation of non-biodegradable materials, such as PET, within urban waste streams adds a layer of complexity to this issue, necessitating innovative solutions.

The aim is to create a sustainable material by developing a natural fiber-reinforced polymer composite consisting of recycled PET and coir while exploring its mechanical, chemical, and morphological properties. The project also seeks to assess the composite material's feasibility and viability for real-life applications while reducing plastic and coconut waste and promoting the circular economy through material repurposing initiatives.

- 1. The primary objective is to develop a sustainable composite material that combines a recycled Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) matrix and coconut fiber reinforcement.
- 2. The research aims to optimize the mechanical properties of the composite.

To achieve the stated objectives, we will undertake the following steps as part of the research process:

- 1. Material Preparation: Collect and prepare the recycled PET and coconut fibers. The PET will be cleaned, shredded, and melted, while the coir fibers will be treated to improve their compatibility with the PET.
- Composite Fabrication: Combine the PET and coir fibers in a ratio of 90-10 weight %, 80-20 weight %, and 70-30 weight %, respectively, using compression molding to form the composite material.
- 3. Property Testing: We will employ several methods for the composite's property testing, each serving a specific purpose. A tensile test will evaluate the composite's strength and flexibility. Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy will analyze the chemical composition and identify functional groups. Lastly, Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) will examine the composite's morphology and composition. These tests collectively will provide a comprehensive understanding of the composite's properties.
- 4. Data Analysis and Reporting: Analyze the data collected during the testing and assessment stages and compile the results into a comprehensive report.

These objectives will help develop a natural fiber-reinforced polymer composite containing recycled PET and coconut fiber to produce a sustainable material. This study assesses this composite's properties to determine its feasibility and viability for real-world applications. All while helping to reduce plastic and coconut waste and promote the circular economy through material repurposing initiatives.

### 1.4 Scope of Study

Specifically, the research will investigate the composite material's fabrication process, mechanical and chemical properties, and morphology. The study will also explore the feasibility of utilizing recycled PET and coconut fibers as raw materials in composite manufacturing.

However, it is important to acknowledge the aspects that fall outside the scope of this research. The study will not delve into the detailed chemical analysis of the constituents or the exhaustive examination of every possible application of the composite material. Furthermore, while the research will assess the mechanical characteristics of the composite, it will not cover topics such as long-term durability testing or large-scale production feasibility. The research will not include an environmental impact assessment, and a market analysis or consumer study, this is

beyond the scope of this research. The study aims to clarify the specific focus areas and objectives while acknowledging the limitations inherent in the research scope.

### **1.5. Significance of the Study**

This study addresses pressing environmental concerns by exploring sustainable alternatives to conventional roofing materials. The research helps reduce reliance on non-renewable resources and mitigates environmental degradation associated with traditional roofing materials by repurposing waste materials such as PET and coconut husks.

Furthermore, this research has significant implications for the field of sustainable materials. The study advances sustainable materials knowledge by investigating the fabrication process, mechanical and chemical properties, and morphology. It provides valuable insights into the feasibility and efficacy of utilizing recycled PET and coconut fibers in composite fabrication, paving the way for developing eco-friendly building materials.

Moreover, the findings of this research have the potential to impact the roofing industry positively. Developing sustainable composite materials offers an opportunity to address the industry's environmental footprint while meeting the demand for durable and cost-effective roofing solutions. By offering a viable alternative to traditional roofing materials, the composite material derived from recycled PET and coconut fibers could promote sustainable practices within the roofing industry and contribute to the transition towards more eco-conscious construction practices. This study has the potential to drive innovation, promote sustainability, and foster positive change in the roofing industry and beyond.

#### 1.6. Methodology Overview

The methodology encompasses a multi-step approach involving material selection, composite fabrication, laboratory testing, and data analysis. Initially, post-consumer PET and coconut fibers were selected as the primary raw materials for composite fabrication based on their availability, compatibility, and sustainability considerations.

The subsequent section will outline the fabrication process and detail the procedures for composite fabrication. These procedures include techniques such as compression molding and fiber-matrix assembly, which are essential for achieving optimal blending and distribution of the reinforcing fibers within the PET matrix. Special attention will be given to controlling processing parameters to ensure the consistency and integrity of the composite material.

After the fabrication process, comprehensive laboratory testing will be conducted to evaluate the composite material's mechanical, chemical, and morphological properties. The testing will involve tensile testing, Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy, and scanning electron microscopy (SEM). These techniques will allow for a thorough characterization of the composite material's performance.

Finally, the collected data will undergo rigorous analysis, employing techniques to discern patterns, correlations, and discrepancies among the tested samples. This analytical phase aims to extract meaningful insights into the relationship between fiber content ratios, processing parameters, and composite properties, informing optimization and refinement of the fabrication process.

#### 1.7. Outline

The thesis is divided into chapters, each concentrating on a different component of the research topic to comprehend the study thoroughly. Chapter 2: Literature Review delves into the existing literature on composite materials, sustainable alternatives such as natural fiber-reinforced composites, and recycled PET and coconut fibers in composite fabrication. This chapter carefully explores major concepts, theories, and preceding research to comprehensively understand the research within the larger academic environment.

The methodology chapter will cover the study's research procedures, such as material selection, fabrication processes, and characterization techniques. It will describe the step-by-step processes used to accomplish the research objectives. The results of the experiments and data analysis will be presented and discussed in the Results and Discussion chapters. The results will be examined within the context of the research objectives and compared with relevant literature to draw meaningful conclusions.

The last chapter will review the study's main findings and analyze their implications for sustainable materials and the roofing industry. It will also emphasize the study's limitations and offer areas for future research to expand knowledge in this field.

## 2. Literature Review

In this chapter, an in-depth exploration of existing literature on composite materials, sustainable solutions, and the integration of recycled PET, coconut fibers, and composite fabrication is undertaken. Specifically, the chapter seeks to establish a robust foundation for future research within the field by examining key concepts, theories, and prior studies. Through an extensive review of relevant literature, the chapter provides insights into composite materials' evolution, emerging sustainability trends, and the efficacy of incorporating recycled materials in composite fabrication processes. By synthesizing and analyzing existing knowledge, this chapter aims to elucidate the significance of the research topic and identify gaps in current understanding, thereby paving the way for the subsequent research methodology and findings.

#### 2.1. Urbanization and Roofing Materials

The construction industry, a significant global economic driver, is grappling with environmental issues due to rapid urbanization. This growth has escalated the demand for construction materials, intensifying the sector's dependence on natural resources and energy. The 2019 World Economic Forum's Global Competitiveness Report highlights the rising cost of building materials, which adds financial strain to construction projects and impedes efforts to address the global housing crisis.

In Ghana, the construction sector is grappling with the high cost of building materials, largely attributed to the high import rates. This situation has resulted in a significant deficit in the housing supply. To address this deficit, experts advocate using local materials like timber and bamboo, which play a crucial role in Ghana's construction industry (Cardoso et al., 2007).

Approximately 60% of the working population requires housing assistance, and about 35% cannot access it even with government subsidies (Ohene, 2022). Addressing this deficit would mean providing 190,000 to 200,000 housing units over the next decade, costing an estimated US\$3.4 billion (Ofori, 2020). Consequently, the government and real estate agencies are keen on developing affordable and sustainable housing.

Today's roofing materials offer many options, from traditional options like clay tiles and slate to modern alternatives like synthetic and metal roofing (Cleland, 2023). Pitched roofs with corrugated metallic sheets are common in Ghana's warm-humid climates. Despite their longevity and natural appeal, metal roofs have challenges, including susceptibility to corrosion and rust, especially in humid regions with high salt content (Calapa, 2022). Temperature fluctuations can also cause metal roofs to expand and contract, leading to loose fasteners and potential leaks, reducing reliability (Duckworth & Hadid, 2024).

Producing metal roofing materials involves extracting and processing non-renewable resources like steel and aluminum. The demand for steel in construction has been rising, with virgin steel production increasing by 5% in 2018 to reach 1817 Mt (IEA, 2018). However, the environmental impact of manufacturing virgin steel is significant, involving energy-intensive processes like sorting, de-galvanizing, and smelting (Roy et al., 2022). Disposing of these materials at the end of their lifespan contributes to landfill accumulation, exacerbating waste management issues.

A circular economy has emerged as a popular model in response to environmental and resource depletion concerns. This shift emphasizes the need for sustainable, affordable, lightweight, durable, and eco-friendly alternative roofing materials. Composite materials offer a promising solution, combining two or more components to create a new material with enhanced properties (Soboyejo, 2002). These materials provide a versatile and sustainable alternative with diverse applications in construction, transport, and sports (Prashanth et al., 2017).

#### 2.2. Composite Materials in Construction

Using natural fibers in construction offers a path to more sustainable building material consumption patterns (Yan et al., 2014). These fibers have many applications, including inside panels, decking, railing, window frames, outdoor furniture, benches, pallets, and boards. Furthermore, using natural fiber-reinforced composites, such as kenaf-reinforced polymers, provides a feasible alternative to unsustainable wood procurement in construction, reducing local environmental degradation (Georgios et al., 2016). For example, composite decking now contains 100% recyclable materials reinforced with bamboo fibers, making it twice as robust and four times harder than traditional alternatives (Anderson & Altan, 2012).

Composites are stronger and lighter than traditional materials such as steel or concrete, enabling innovative architectural ideas. They can also be customized for specific purposes by changing

stiffness, thermal conductivity, and corrosion resistance (Ngo, 2020). As a result of this adaptability, architects and engineers can meet various structural and functional requirements. Material properties such as corrosion resistance and long life make composites ideal for harsh environments.

Composites, with their enhanced durability, not only reduce maintenance costs but also extend the lifespan of structures. They offer design flexibility, allowing for complex shapes that are unattainable with traditional materials. Furthermore, their thermal and electrical insulation properties contribute to improved energy efficiency and sustainability of buildings (Carrie, 2017).

One of the most widely used composite materials and potential candidates for sustainable roofing materials is the polymer matrix composite (PMC). Polymer matrix composites are made from either thermosetting polymer, like epoxy resin, which is often used due to their high thermal resistance and reduces the degradation of natural fibers (Keya et al., 2019), or thermoplastic polymers, such as polypropylene (PP), polyethylene (PE), polyurethane, and Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) which are recyclable and energy efficient during processing.

The recyclability of composite materials can vary depending on their composition, with some formulations posing challenges for end-of-life disposal or recycling. One of the central problems is the production and disposal of non-recyclable polymers (plastics). Waste management of non-biodegradable plastics presents a formidable challenge. Due to their nonbiodegradability and high visibility in the waste stream, plastics have become a severe problem. Inadequate waste management practices, like littering, have brought on additional issues, such as clogged sewers, "plastics-filled" oceans, and problems regarding health and microplastics. When waste plastics are inadequately treated at the end of their life, their presence in the waste stream creates a significant issue.

#### 2.2.1. Polymer Recycling

Synthetic polymers, meticulously designed to fulfill consumer demands, and materials are indispensable components in our consumer demands. The production of these polymers surged to a staggering 311 million tons in 2014 and is projected to triple by the year 2050 (Agenda, I., 2016). Despite their utility, plastics pose a significant challenge due to their linear lifecycle, often leading to single-use applications and subsequent waste accumulation and pollution.

Consequently, plastic waste has become a pressing environmental concern, necessitating a shift towards sustainable practices.

Plastics have permeated every aspect of modern life, serving as ubiquitous packaging materials and consumer goods. Nevertheless, the fate of most plastics lies in landfills or incinerators, contributing to environmental degradation and resource depletion. Current disposal methods, including incineration and landfilling, yield suboptimal outcomes, releasing harmful gases into the atmosphere (Hong & Chen, 2017).



Figure 2.1. Hierarchy of preferred waste management methods from most to least favored (Bucknall, 2020).

Efforts to mitigate plastic waste extend beyond conventional recycling methods to embrace the principles of a circular economy. In this paradigm, plastics are viewed as valuable resources with the potential for multiple lifecycles. Mechanical recycling is a prominent example, although its efficacy is hampered by contamination and degradation. For example, plastic bottles, once discarded, face limited reuse due to contamination, perpetuating the cycle of waste and pollution. Alternatively, chemical recycling, called feedstock recycling, presents a promising avenue for depolymerizing plastics into their constituent monomers, offering higher quality than mechanical recycling (Valerio, 2020).



Figure 2.2. Diagram illustrating the life cycle of plastics (Bucknall, 2020).

The transition towards renewable resources is imperative as the world grapples with a rapidly depleting petroleum reserve, the primary source of synthetic polymers (Dale, 2021). However, this transition must be accompanied by comprehensive waste management strategies to address the pervasive issue of polymer waste. By embracing the principles of a circular economy and prioritizing recyclability, we can pave the way for a sustainable future where plastics serve as renewable resources rather than disposable commodities.

Implementing robust waste management strategies is crucial for attaining environmental sustainability and promoting a circular economy. The prevalent issues with the design and disposal of plastics must be addressed to mitigate their long-term impact on landfills and oceans. Many plastics are engineered for durability over biodegradability, leading to persistent environmental accumulation. Life cycle assessment into plastic production is vital to ensure responsible end-of-life management. Presently, the disposal of substantial quantities of plastic waste in landfills exacerbates environmental contamination and squanders resources (Bucknall, 2020). Biodegradable polymers offer a potential solution, with polylactic acid (PLA) emerging as a prominent candidate (Hong & Chen, 2017). However, the slow degradation of PLA via

hydrolysis presents challenges in waste management and may contribute to excess waste accumulation.

The widespread adoption of biodegradable polymers emphasizes the necessity for a comprehensive waste management strategy aligned with circular economy principles. Rather than viewing plastics as disposable commodities, we must transition towards a model where plastics serve as renewable resources with multiple lifecycles. Recycling offers a potential for economic growth and plastic waste reduction, which has seen tremendous growth globally. A profit pool of about \$60 billion is estimated to emerge from recycling, of which 39% would be derived from mechanical and 61% from chemical recycling (Ragaert et al., 2017).

Open-loop recycling, wherein plastics are recycled into new products, offers a promising avenue for minimizing waste accumulation and maximizing resource utilization. A novel chemical recycling method entails glycolysis of post-consumer PET utilizing surplus ethylene glycol and an organic catalyst, 1,5,7-triazabicyclo[4.4.0]dec-5-ene (TBD), resulting in the production of bis(2-hydroxyethyl) terephthalate (BHET). Under glycolysis conditions at 190 °C for 3.5 hours, BHET is synthesized with a 78% isolated yield alongside minor impurities (Fukushima et al., 2011)

Mechanical recycling, though considered a remedy, involves sorting, washing, drying, and melting consumer polymer products. However, the presence of residual moisture and contaminants compromises the quality of recycled polymers, impeding their effectiveness. For example, recycling PET bottles back to new PET bottles is preferred. However, the remaining contamination that mechanical recycling cannot eliminate is a significant factor holding this back.



Figure 2.3 The change of properties with respect to thermal processing cycles for PP and thermo-mechanical processing cycles (Delva et al., 2014) and (La Mantia & Vinci, 1994), respectively. The graph in (a) shows how MFI (open circles) and Young's modulus (closed squares) change with PP. Meanwhile, (b) shows the variations in PET's modulus (closed triangles), impact strength (open squares), and strain to failure (closed circles).

Recycling engineering plastics such as Polyethylene terephthalate (PET) holds immense potential for advancing the circular economy. Mechanical recycling of PET is a prominent example, but chemical recycling provides a more comprehensive solution by depolymerizing plastics into their constituent monomers, resulting in a higher-quality output. The mechanical recycling of PET resin is a prominent example; however, contaminants cause the molecular weight and strength to be diminished. For example, a mechanically recycled PET bottle exhibits less than 10% elongation at break (Torres et al., 2000).

The potential benefits of efficient recycling are vast, including the conservation of resources and mitigation of environmental impact. For instance, it could help save 7.5 billion cubic yards of landfill space, reduce 17 trillion tons of CO2 emissions, and conserve 4.2 trillion gallons of water (Quartinello et al., 2018). However, achieving a circular economy is not a task for a

single entity. It requires a joint effort from industry, government, and society. Plastics can be transformed from environmental liabilities to valuable resources if we prioritize recyclability, implement innovative recycling technologies, and foster a culture of sustainability.

Waste recycling offers significant environmental benefits. It reduces the degradation caused by the exploitation of raw materials, saves energy, reduces pollution, and even creates jobs. A case in point is Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET), a versatile polymer used in various applications such as beverage containers and packaging. Despite its recyclability, PET often becomes litter on our streets, landfills, or the ocean, contributing to environmental pollution and resource wastage. There is a growing interest in developing composite materials from renewable, biodegradable, and waste-based sources, such as agricultural residues, natural fibers, and polymer waste (Shanmugam et al., 2021).

With open-loop recycling, we are offered a promising avenue for minimizing waste accumulation and maximizing resource utilization, highlighting the potential for sustainable alternatives such as polymer matrix materials in composites. For example, polyethylene terephthalate (PET) can be recycled as a polymer matrix due to its good mechanical, thermal, and chemical resistance. High temperatures and UV rays also cause it to yellow and degrade (Edge et al., 1996). Therefore, PET can be modified or blended with other additives or reinforcements to improve its stability and performance (Hasan et al., 2021) in roofing applications.

#### 2.3. Sustainable Composite Materials

Composite properties are also controlled by selecting the appropriate constituents with preferred mechanical, chemical, and physical properties (Soboyejo, 2002). The reinforcement of fiber upon polymeric matrix, as illustrated in Figure 2.4, brings about significant improvements in the properties of the polymer, like excellent weathering stabilities (Kendall, 2010). Composite reinforcement can engineer a variety of essential mechanical and physical qualities, making them highly valuable. Multiple types of fibers with different polymers are required to achieve tailor-made qualities for specific applications, with the fiber contributing to the final composites' properties (Prashanth et al., 2017).



Figure 2.4. Classification of fiber reinforcements (Ahmad et al., 2019).

Composite materials have efficiently used fibers in various configurations, including mats, woven structures, and chopped forms, to meet specific performance requirements. Fibers are complex because they contain thousands of filaments, each with a unique arrangement. Short or discontinuous fibers with lengths of a few millimeters produce isotropic tendencies in the composite material (Soboyejo, 2002). On the other hand, fibers are oriented along two perpendicular directions: one warps and the other wefts. The weft passes over and under the warp yarns. (Gay et al., 2003, p 41).

The interfacial adhesion between fibers and matrix, matrix stress transmission capacity, and a composite's properties can be controlled by controlling the interfacial properties (Soboyejo, 2002). Excellent properties like the strength-to-weight ratio of composites result from low fiber densities. Fibers like carbon, Kevlar, glass, and natural fibers are the most used in construction, transport, and sports. Natural fibers have become common in boat construction and other equipment due to their lightweight, good relative mechanical properties, and lower cost when compared to fiberglass (Shalwan & Yousif, 2013). Fiberglass and some synthetic fibers are

costly, highly impact the ecosystem, and cross into occupational health and safety concerns (Mohammed et al., 2015). Natural composite reinforcements include cellulosic fibers such as sisal, jute, hemp, coir, bamboo, wood, banana, oil palm, and kenaf (Mehdikhani et al., 2019).



Figure 2.5. Typical fiber reinforcement types (Jayan et al., 2021).

There is a growing interest in developing composite materials from renewable, biodegradable, and waste-based sources, such as agricultural residues and natural fibers (Shanmugam et al., 2021). Various synthetic fibers, such as glass, carbon, boron, and inorganic, metallic, and ceramic materials, are typical reinforcements for polymers. These materials are heavy, expensive, and harmful to the environment. Due to their relatively low strength, natural fibers cannot compete with the impressive properties of synthetic fibers (Biswas et al., 2011). Nevertheless, there is a growing trend towards utilizing natural fibers as reinforcements in polymer matrix composites, gradually replacing traditional synthetic fibers.

Because of their mechanical properties, natural fiber-reinforced polymer composites are used in various products and applications. Many reviews have discussed the potential uses of natural fiber-reinforced polymer composites in construction and building applications. These natural fibers, including coir, have exceptional mechanical properties (Ilyas & Sapuan, 2020). Coir is a strong, durable, and versatile material that can improve the mechanical properties of a material. It is also inexpensive, lightweight, and biodegradable, making it a greener alternative to synthetic fibers. Adding coir to polymer matrices can improve the material's thermal properties and resistance to water absorption, making it ideal for outdoor applications.

Natural fibers are of primary interest owing to their advantages, notably in weight and sustainability. The typical approach is to blend existing polymers with other components to reduce costs and tailor products to specific applications. The growing emphasis on environmental rules and ethical issues has prompted a search for cost-effective and environmentally benign materials. In this setting, using natural fibers becomes critical, providing a viable path for materials that adhere to ecological and ethical standards.

An ecological evaluation, or eco-balance, of the natural-fiber mat compared to the glass-fiber mat offers another perspective. The energy required to produce a flax-fiber mat (9.55 MJ/kg), encompassing cultivation, harvesting, and fiber separation, totals around 17% of the energy needed to produce a glass-fiber mat (54.7 MJ/kg) (Patel et al., 2002 and Wang, 2010). Though natural-fiber-reinforced polymer parts offer many benefits compared to fiberglass, several primary technical considerations must be addressed before the engineering, scientific, and commercial communities gain the confidence to enable wide-scale acceptance (Ghassemieh, 2011).

Natural fibers, such as coir, jute, sisal, and opuntia, are attractive alternatives to synthetic fibers, such as glass and carbon, for reinforcing PMCs because they are abundant, renewable, biodegradable, low-cost, and have comparable mechanical properties (Hasan et al., 2021). However, natural fibers also have some drawbacks, such as high moisture absorption, poor compatibility with polymer matrices, and variability in quality (Neto et al., 2022). Therefore, natural fibers must be treated or modified to enhance their surface properties and adhesion with the matrix (Martinelli et al., 2023).

Fibers	Density	Tensile Strength	Elongation at	Tensile Modulus
	(g/cm <sup>3</sup> )	(MPa)	Break (%)	(GPa)
Bamboo	1.25	140-230	-	11-17

Table 1. Physical and mechanical properties of natural fibers (Sapuan, 2021).

Jute	1.3	393-773	1.5-1.8	26.5
Sisal	1.5	511-535	2.0-2.5	9.4-22
Coir	1.2	138.7	30	4-6
Pineapple	0.8-1.6	400-627	14.5	1.44

Coconut Fiber, also known as coir, is a lignocellulosic fiber sourced from coconut palms in tropical areas. Due to its sturdiness, endurance, and valuable attributes, it is widely utilized in flooring materials, yarn, and rope (Satyanarayana et al., 1986). However, traditional coir products utilize only a fraction of the total coconut husk production, prompting research efforts to explore new pathways for coir utilization, particularly as a reinforcing component in polymer composite materials (Geethamma et al., 1998). The amount of waste generated from coconut shells has increased due to the rising consumption of coconut fruit pulp (Ayrilmis et al., 2011). The build-up of coconut shells presents problems in some areas, with adverse social, economic, and environmental effects (Biggs et al., 2015).

These shells break down slowly, and their careless disposal ruins the urban environment. They serve as a mosquito breeding ground, eventually spreading disease (Banerjee et al., 2013). It is unclear how many coconut shells are thrown away at consumption locations, which makes handling the leftovers difficult (Santos et al., 2019). Coconut dumping frequently occurs in inappropriate places, such as uncompleted building sites and beaches, and is, therefore, difficult to measure. Addressing this issue is vital for promoting sustainability and unlocking the substantial potential of coconut waste.

Coconut shells, in powder or fiber form, have been shown to have extensive unrealized potential for a variety of applications, including thermal insulation (Araújo et al., 2015), panel production (Ayrilmis et al., 2011), reinforcement in polymer matrices (Das & Biswas, 2016), and cement composite enhancement (Asasutjarit et al., 2007). Coir fibers exhibit excellent elongation at break, indicating their ability to stretch well beyond the elastic limit without breaking (Karthikeyan & Balamurugan, 2012).

Using natural fibers for composite fabrication has many drawbacks, like poor compatibility with polymers, low thermal degradation, and high-water absorption capacities (Senthilkumar et al., 2018). Thus, fiber surface modification is necessary. The surface modification of natural fibers aims to remove hemicellulose, which can improve interfacial adhesion between fibers and polymer matrices. Removing hemicellulose can also reduce fibers' hydrophilicity (Saba et al., 2015).

Removing fiber surface impurities produces cleaner and rougher fiber surfaces (Li et al., 2007). Various approaches can be used to improve natural fibers' adhesion to polymer matrices. These approaches can be physical or chemical and are not strict formulas that, once implemented, will result in substantial improvements. Several natural fiber research techniques for physical treatment methods have been identified, including fibrillation and electric discharge (cold plasma, corona). This treatment modifies the fibers' surface and structure properties without using chemicals. It strengthens the bond between the polymer matrix and the reinforcement fiber, resulting in stronger composites (Ilyas & Sapuan, 2020). Physical treatments, such as hydrothermal treatment, have been used to modify fiber surfaces, improve compatibility between fibers and polymer matrices, and remove hemicellulose components (Norrrahim et al., 2018).

Xue Li et al. discuss how chemical treatments can also improve interface adhesion between the fiber and the matrix and reduce water absorption by fibers (Li et al., 2007). Chemical treatments should also be considered when altering the properties of natural fibers. For example, treating natural fibers with sodium hydroxide (NaOH) is commonly used to change the chemical composition of the cellulosic polymer (Mwaikambo & Ansell, 1999).

Ariffin et al. (2018) cut the coir into short pieces and washed it with double-distilled water to remove dust particle impurities. Then, the coir was soaked in 2% NaOH solution at ambient temperature for 24 hours to remove lignin from the coconut coir and avoid bacterial infection. This process allows for greater accessibility to substances that penetrate the fiber skin (Parkash, 2015).

Method	Description		
Concess Treatment	I.	Apply low-temperature corona discharge plasma to convey	
Corona Treatment		changes in the properties of the fiber's surface.	
	II.	Use of oxygen-containing species.	
	III.	Increase fiber surface roughness.	
	IV.	Improves wettability and polarity of the fibers and adhesion of	
		plastic surface.	
Plasma Treatment	I.	Modify the fiber surface.	
	II.	Reduce weakly attached layers in fiber.	
	III.	Improve fiber surface roughness.	
	IV.	Increases the surface adhesion between fiber and matrix.	
Superheated steam	I.	Hydrothermal treatment of fiber.	
	II.	This results in the removal of thermally unstable and hydrophilic	
		components of fiber.	
	III.	Improves the fiber-matrix compatibility interaction.	

Table 2. Physical treatment for modifying natural fibers (Nurazzi et al., 2021).

The fiber-to-matrix ratio in composite fabrication is a critical determinant of the mechanical properties of the final product (Shesan et al., 2019). The fibers, which are the reinforcing phase, provide strength and stiffness to the composite. At the same time, the matrix binds the fibers together, transferring stresses between the fibers and protecting them from environmental damage (Shesan et al., 2019). The ratio between these two components determines the balance between the strength and flexibility of the composite material (Rajak et al., 2019).

A high fiber-to-matrix ratio often results in a composite with excellent strength and stiffness, as the load-bearing capacity of the composite is primarily due to the fibers (Shesan et al., 2019). However, if the ratio is too high, there may be insufficient matrix material to effectively bind the fibers together, leading to a brittle composite that can fail under stress (Hull, 1981). Conversely, a low fiber-to-matrix ratio can result in a composite with good toughness and ductility but at reduced strength and stiffness. Therefore, achieving the optimal fiber-to-matrix

ratio is crucial for tailoring the properties of the composite to meet specific application requirements (Rajak et al., 2019).

After investigating agricultural residue-based composites' physical and mechanical properties, Ariffin et al. (2018) and Singh et al. (2021) concluded that natural fibers can replace synthetic fibers. They show the capability of hybrid natural fiber composites as a useful material in lightweight applications. Meanwhile, Edge et al. (1996) and Ailenei et al. (2021) provided insights into the degradation and stability of polymer-based composites.

#### 2.4. Natural Fiber-Reinforced Composites for Roofing Applications

Composite materials have been increasingly used in roofing due to their unique properties and benefits. To maintain loading, live load, wind load, and, in some situations, snow load, the roof material should be light, resistant to water, and resistant to harsh weather (Al-Azad et al., 2021). Sectors where moderate strength is required, and high demand is demonstrated provide considerable opportunities for the easy adoption of natural fiber composites. The use of natural fiber composites such as sisal fiber/cashew nutshell liquid (CNSL) and recycled paper-reinforced acrylated epoxidized soybean oil (AESO) with a foam core as roof materials (Dweib et al., 2006) is an example of roofing materials manufactured using natural fiber composites forming sandwich panels. A sandwich-structured composite is a special class of composite material fabricated by attaching two thin but stiff skins to a lighter core (Gay et al., 2003, p53).

Whether flat-surfaced or corrugated, composite panels demonstrate versatility in both dimensions and applications. They find utility in various settings, including wall partitions, floors, and roofs, particularly when crafted from plant-based polymers (Van Erp & Rogers, 2008). This adaptability underscores the potential of composite materials, especially those derived from natural sources, in sustainable construction practices.

Darsana et al. developed coir fiber cement boards for wall panels, roofing, and flooring using a 70:30 combination of cement and coir fiber. They discovered that adding fibers increased attributes such as breaking load and ductility. Tiles with coir fiber had fewer acute cracks than those without (Darsana et al., 2016). Another study discovered that immersing coir fibers in hot water boosted their effectiveness as a strengthening compound by improving adhesion between the coir and the matrix (Asasutjarit et al., 2007).

Cook et al. investigated randomly oriented coir fiber-reinforced composites for roofing sheets, focusing on fiber length and volume. They determined that the best composite had a fiber length of 3.75 cm and a fiber volume content of 7.5%. This composite proved a cost-effective solution, significantly cheaper than locally available roofing materials (Cook et al., 1978).

In a study on the durability of natural fibers and the effect of corroded fibers on mortar strength, coir fibers retained a higher proportion of their initial strength than other fibers after exposure to various mediums (Ramakrishna & Sundararajan, 2005). These studies lay the groundwork for comprehending the structural characteristics critical to this research. While composite materials offer several benefits for roofing applications, it is essential to consider their potential drawbacks. The choice of roofing material should be based on various factors, including the local climate, aesthetic preferences, and budget. Composite fabrication often comes with a steeper price tag due to the cost of materials and the fabrication and design process.

#### **2.5. Natural Fiber Composite Fabrication**

Most composites reinforced with natural fibers, processed through various methods, exhibit a favored orientation of fibers (Serrano,2013). Factors such as part geometry, material flow, viscosity, wettability, and mold surface roughness collectively impact the orientation of fibers. The arrangement of fibers during the preparation of composites plays a pivotal role in determining the material properties (Alam et al., 2010). Optimal strength and modulus are achieved when using continuous fibers. In contrast, discontinuous fibers tend to have a random orientation, leading to decreased strength and modulus, but they prove cost-effective. As a result, discontinuous fibers find application in scenarios where cost outweighs the significance of strength.



Figure 2.6. (a) Schematic fiber orientation and distribution variations due to material flow during NFRC processing (Gallos et al., 2017).

Traditional manufacturing techniques for fiber-reinforced polymer composites are usually used to fabricate natural fiber polymer composites. Due to their repelling properties, natural fibers have high moisture absorption. They also have low thermal resistance, inconsistent quality, and wettability (Ramasamy, 2021). In addition, specific fabricating methods can affect the quality of composite materials (Potter et al., 2008).

#### 2.5.1. Compression Molding

Compression molding is a commonly used composite material creation method. After the matrix and fiber are placed on the mold, the counter mold closes it. The assembly is placed in a press with a 0.1 to 0.2 MPa pressure. After that, the mold is sealed and exposed to ambient temperature or higher (Gay et al., 2003, p17), which causes the material to take on the mold's shape. The substance forms the intended product when it solidifies.

This process is preferred because it can create intricate geometries with high fiber volume fractions, resulting in composite products that are reliable and sturdy. Compared to an injection molding cycle, a molding cycle lasts between one and six minutes (Kopeliovich, 2023). The process works well for producing flat or slightly curved pieces in bulk. It works especially well with thermoplastic polymers like PET, HDPE, polypropylene, and thermoset resins like Sheet Molding Compounds (SMC). In the compression molding process, fibers such as fiberglass, aramid, carbon fiber, and natural fibers may be utilized.

When using this approach for PMC fabrication, numerous critical parameters come into play, including compression pressure, pressure-holding time, compression temperature, mold-opening temperature, and cooling rate. Changes to these factors affect the product's tensile strength, bending strength, and overall mechanical performance. The reinforcement fibers are equally distributed throughout the composite, resulting in minimal variations in physical qualities during production (Kangishwar et al., 2023).

#### 2.5.2. Injection molding

One popular method of producing polymer matrix composites is injection molding (Wang, 1992). It entails injecting molten polymer—typically thermoplastic—under high pressure into a mold cavity while combining it with 10–40% short reinforcing fibers (Kopeliovich, 2023). A hopper feeds the polymer-fiber mixture usually pellets—into an injection molding machine (Kopeliovich, 2023).

The injection molding procedure involves multiple stages, including filling the cylinder, shutting the mold, plasticizing the polymer, injecting pressure, chilling the material, and finally, ejecting the material (Islam, 2021). The polymer granules are first heated, mixed, and then melted into a viscous fluid in a heated barrel (Lau, 2019). Once injected into a mold cavity, the liquid polymer cools and solidifies to take on the shape of the cavity (Lau, 2019). The mold is precisely machined and designed to form the features of the desired product (Lau, 2019).

Because injection molding guarantees precision and consistency, it is especially well-suited for large-scale manufacturing (Lau, 2019). It can create intricately shaped, high-precision parts at a very low cost (Wang, 1992). However, the fiber's chemical treatment, the matrix mix, and the fabrication method affect the final composite material's qualities. Thus, to achieve the necessary qualities in the final composite part, precise management of the injection molding process parameters is essential (Islam, 2021).

#### 2.5.3. Resin Transfer Molding (RTM)

Injection and compression molding characteristics are combined in a production technique called resin transfer molding (RTM) (Xometry, 2023). This closed mold method involves clamping matching male and female molds replaced with fiber preform to create composite parts (Fong & Advani, 1998).

A predetermined amount of raw material is used in the process; it is heated and put into a chamber called the pot at the top of the mold (Xometry, 2023). One cycle is used for the material in the pot, which is usually a heated reservoir that can fill many mold holes at once (Xometry, 2023). The polymer is then forced through a channel known as a sprue using a piston into a heated mold. The mold stays closed until the material within has completely hardened (Xometry, 2023). The main use of RTM is for the rubber or plastic encasement of electrical components. RTM allows for producing parts with sharper corners and edges (Xometry, 2023).

Three steps make up the RTM process: pre-processing, injection, and post-processing (Delgado, 2019). The preform, or reinforcements in the shape of the component, is first made and placed in the mold during pre-processing (Delgado, 2019). The preform is then squeezed, and the mold is sealed (Delgado, 2019). The resin mixture is injected into the cavity at a comparatively low pressure via injection ports. Fong and Advani (1998) say the typical injection pressure is less than 690 kPa or 100 psi. Comparing this process to other methods, such as compression molding, reveals several advantages. Xometry (2023) lists these benefits as increased design flexibility, lower production cycle times, and a higher cavity count. It is appropriate for medium-volume production of high-performance composite components (Carruthers, 2018).



Figure 2.7. Resin Transfer Molding (RTM) (Kangishwar et al., 2023).

#### 2.5.4. 3D Printing

3D printing, or additive manufacturing, is a layer-by-layer process for creating 3D items from various materials. It has been utilized more frequently to create composite materials, which have special benefits regarding adaptability and personalization (Ye, 2021). Most 3D printers that can process composite materials rely on Fused Filament Fabrication (FFF) (Autonomous Manufacturing, 2020), a polymer-extrusion method. In FFF, an object is created layer by layer by extruding a molten plastic thread known as a filament through a nozzle that moves above the build platform (Autonomous Manufacturing, 2020). Compared to previous molding techniques, this one can manufacture more complicated pieces in larger quantities, allowing for elaborate designs and quick prototyping (Martin, 2019).

3D printing is especially popular in materials engineering to optimize mechanical qualities since it strengthens materials in specified directions (Carlota, 2023). By eliminating the

requirement for conventional tooling and enabling the creation of composite parts without it, 3D printing drastically reduces production time and mold-making expenses (Zelinski, 2021). Furthermore, 3D printing expands the tooling options available to the composites industry by facilitating the creation of intricate shapes and geometries that would be difficult or impossible to do using traditional techniques. Therefore, 3D printing offers a viable path forward for improving the fabrication of composite materials and raising the bar for composite applications across various industries.

#### 2.5.5. Extrusion

Extrusion is a manufacturing process that involves transforming a material, typically in a molten or semi-solid state, into a product with a specific cross-sectional profile. This transformation is achieved by applying heat and pressure to force the material through a specially designed opening known as a die shape (Jegla, 2023). Once it passes through the die, the material takes on the shape of the die's opening. This shaped material emerges on the other side, ready for its final application (Jegla, 2023). This process is highly versatile and can be used with various materials, including metals, plastics, and composites.

In the context of composite materials, extrusion takes on an additional layer of complexity. The composite extrusion process allows for the continuous embedding of reinforcing into a matrix material. As the material is extruded, additional materials (reinforcing elements) are incorporated into the matrix, creating a composite material with properties that can be tailored to specific applications (Dahnke, 2014).

The process in question, which combines the economic advantages of conventional direct extrusion, such as low cost and high production speed, with the benefits of a multi-material profile design, allows for creating a final product with the benefits of multiple materials. These benefits include increased strength or improved thermal properties, and the product can still be produced cost-effectively. (Dahnke, 2014).



Fig 2.8. Schematic diagram showing (a) compression molding, (b) injection molding, and (c) extrusion of NFRCs (Balla et al., 2019).

### 2.6. Research Gaps and Opportunities

While research has extensively explored composite materials for various applications, a gap exists in synthesizing a composite material that combines recycled polymers and coconut fiber. Studies have investigated using renewable resources in recycled PET composites (Shaikh et al., 2020) and the potential of natural fibers like jute (Wang et al., 2019), sisal (Li et al., 2000), and coir (Adeniyi et al., 2019) as reinforcement materials. However, the combined recycled PET and coconut fiber in a composite material remains largely unexplored.

This research aims to bridge this gap by pioneering the fabrication of a composite material that marries the structural strength of recycled PET with the sustainable and renewable qualities of coconut fiber. A comprehensive study in this niche area is essential to understand better the unique properties, challenges, and opportunities associated with these materials in sustainable construction. Such opportunities pave the way for additional research into efficiently utilizing these materials and their potential applications in the construction industry.
This chapter establishes the critical need for sustainable composite materials and identifies the current research gaps, laying the foundation for the subsequent chapter. The next chapter will outline the methodology employed to fabricate, characterize, and evaluate the performance of this novel material in sustainable roofing applications. These steps are crucial to achieving the desired outcomes and significantly advancing sustainable materials.

# 3. Methodology

This chapter provides a robust framework for creating and analyzing sustainable composite materials for roofing applications, leveraging recycled PET and coconut fibers. The methodology includes a detailed description of the materials, the fabrication technique, comprehensive laboratory testing protocols, and rigorous data analysis. The research aims to thoroughly understand the properties of the composite, informing the development of more sustainable and durable roofing materials. This systematic approach underscores the importance of rigorous research in achieving the study's objectives and contributing to the field of sustainable materials.

## 3.1. Materials

The choice of materials for this study is crucial to ensuring the quality and performance of the composite material under consideration. Coconut fibers and Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) were selected for their unique properties and suitability for the intended application of the composite material. Coconut fibers were used as a renewable and environmentally sustainable material. On the other hand, PET was chosen for its excellent mechanical properties and corrosion resistance, making it an ideal matrix material for the composite.

Coir, a natural cellulose fiber sourced from coconut husks, is preferred for fiber reinforcement in composites due to its unique properties and benefits. One of the primary reasons for its popularity is its sustainability. As a natural, renewable, and biodegradable material, coir aligns with the growing demand for eco-friendly and recyclable materials. Additionally, coir is widely available, particularly in tropical regions where coconuts are extensively cultivated. This ensures a readily accessible raw material source for composite fabrication (Hasan et al., 2021).

Moreover, coir fibers are known for their impressive strength and stiffness, which are essential for reinforced composite materials. They offer superior mechanical, thermal, and physical properties to synthetic fiber-reinforced composites. Coir also exhibits exceptional resistance to degradation, particularly in saltwater environments, making it well-suited for applications in harsh or marine conditions (Bongarde & Khot, 2019). Its versatility is evident in its compatibility with various thermoplastic, thermosetting, and cement-based materials, allowing us to produce diverse biocomposites. Furthermore, the mechanical performance of coir fiber-reinforced composites can be enhanced through surface pretreatment of the coir fibers (Hasan

et al., 2021). This potential for enhancement adds to the appeal of using coir in composite materials.



Figure 3.1. Coconut fibers.

The matrix PET is key for load transfer and mechanical strength in tandem with coconut fibers. PET's wide availability and superior properties, including stiffness, strength, design flexibility, and resistance to fatigue and corrosion, make it a popular choice in commercial and aerospace applications. Its advanced mechanical properties and ease of fabrication further enhance its appeal across various industries (Kangishwar et al., 2023).

Waste polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) obtained from post-consumer waste sources, such as discarded plastic bottles, goes through a shredding and cleaning process to turn it into clean flakes. This shredding stage is necessary for the later inclusion of recycled PET into the composite matrix, where it plays the role of the polymer matrix component. The recycled PET acts as the matrix in the composite material, providing cohesion and overall stability to the finished product.

The selection of recycled PET as the polymer matrix in composites is primarily driven by its widespread availability from the packaging industry and the substantial volume of postconsumer PET produced worldwide. This ensures an easily accessible supply of raw materials for composite production, promoting the creation of environmentally friendly materials. The recyclability of PET and its inherent properties enable its use in an open-loop waste material utilization (Torres et al., 2000) process for composite manufacturing. By incorporating recycled PET into the composite matrix, the study supports the circular economy model, which emphasizes continuous recycling and repurposing of resources to minimize resource exhaustion and waste production.



Figure 3.2. Post-consumer PET.

The composite material's fabrication hinges on carefully selecting and processing coconut fibers and Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET). These materials were sourced and processed to

ensure their quality and consistency. The coconut fibers were purified, while the PET is shredded and cleaned, preserving the integrity of the recycled PET. This thorough preparation paves the way for the next steps in the methodology, which will explore the detailed procedures for composite preparation, the tools used, and the safety measures taken.

## **3.2 Materials Processing and Composite Fabrication**

During the preparation phase, we implement extra steps to ensure the composite's components are uniformly dispersed and optimized. We meticulously control the fiber length and moisture content to boost the composite's mechanical strength and structure. Processing, storage, and handling conditions were strictly regulated to maintain consistent material properties.

The mechanical recycling of PET begins with collecting, sorting, cleaning, and drying waste PET. Post-consumer waste was manually sorted to ensure that only PET was recycled, and contaminants were removed (Valerio, 2020).

The sorted PET waste was then thoroughly cleaned to remove impurities like dirt, debris, and residual substances. This step is vital for preserving the quality of the recycled PET and preventing contamination during future processing stages. The PET products were dried to eliminate excess moisture, which could degrade the recycled material's quality and performance in downstream applications.

After drying, the PET flakes were shredded into small, uniform pieces using a shredder. This facilitated the subsequent melting and processing steps. The PET flakes were then cleaned to remove any debris or contaminants from the shredding process. Once cleaned, the PET flakes were melted, transforming into a molten state suitable for fabricating sheets through compression molding.



Figure 3.3. Shredded and cleaned waste PET.

Following the mechanical recycling of PET, the next key step was treating the coconut fibers to improve their compatibility with the recycled PET matrix. This treatment, known as hydrothermal treatment, enhances the adhesion between the fibers and the matrix, thereby improving the composite material's mechanical properties (Nurazzi et al., 2021).

The coconut fibers were soaked in distilled water at elevated temperatures of 110°C for two hours, allowing deeper penetration into the fiber structure and modifying the fibers. After soaking and heating, the fibers were dried at 110°C for two hours to remove residual moisture and ensure material uniformity (Norrrahim et al., 2018). This thorough treatment process prepared the coconut fibers for integration into the recycled PET matrix, optimizing the composite material's performance.

Hydrothermal processing induced a transformative change in the coconut fibers. Due to steam permeation, the fibers expanded and became more porous, enhancing the composite material's performance by promoting superior adhesion with the recycled PET matrix (Norrrahim et al., 2018). The fibers' hydrophilicity and surface energy increase due to the controlled steam exposure, aiding in hydrolyzing the hemicellulose components (Xiao et al., 2017). These significant changes in fiber chemistry increased composite strength and durability by

improving wetting and interfacial adhesion with the rPET matrix. These changes in the hemicellulose structure enhanced wetting and interfacial adhesion with the matrix.



Figure 3.4. Coir treatment in distilled water.

During material preparation, rigorous quality control measures were enforced to ensure the produced composite materials were uniform and consistent. A key aspect of quality control was managing fiber length during preparation. Since coconut husk-derived fibers vary in length, they can significantly affect the final composite's mechanical properties. Precise cutting processes were used to standardize fiber lengths and reduce variability. The coir fibers were trimmed to create uniform lengths, ensuring consistency throughout the composite material.

Integrating coconut fibers and recycled polyethylene terephthalate (rPET) into a composite material was a critical fabrication step that demanded meticulous attention to detail and optimal control over processing conditions. The dried fibers were chopped (Ariffin et al., 2018) to

20mm and 30mm lengths, ready for inclusion in the composite material. These fibers were randomly oriented and compressed to enhance manageability and uniform distribution, facilitating easier bonding with the molten rPET matrix and improving overall composite properties.



Figure 3.5. Cleaned and trimmed coir.

Additional stringent procedures were implemented to minimize potential variability sources that could affect the composite material's qualities. For example, a material's mechanical performance and dimensional stability can be heavily influenced by its moisture content. Therefore, it was necessary to dry the coir (Norrrahim et al., 2018) and rPET separately to maintain the composite material's ideal moisture content. Strict cleaning techniques were also employed to remove contaminants or impurities that could affect the material's performance or quality.



Figure 3.6. Compressed randomly oriented coir.

In addition, the fiber orientation inside the composite matrix was random. The configuration and orientation of fibers were critical factors that could impact the properties of the composite material. The fibers were maintained in situ and randomly orientated, utilizing specific procedures during the composite fabrication. Consequently, this guaranteed that the material's stiffness, strength, and resistance to deformation were evenly distributed throughout, thus giving it anisotropic properties (Cook et al., 1978).

The fabrication process used compression molding due to its ability to uniformly distribute fibers within the rPET matrix (Kangishwar et al., 2023). Compression molding also provides material and energy efficiency. Compared to an injection molding cycle, a molding cycle lasts between one and six minutes. The process works well for producing flat or slightly curved pieces in bulk (Kopeliovich, 2023). It contributed to production efficiency and product quality and allowed for incorporating recycled PET into a composite, enhancing sustainability. The process aimed to maximize PET's strength and sustainability benefits, reinforced with coconut fiber.

During compression molding, treated and randomly oriented fibers were placed between rPET layers in a mold to form a sandwich composite. This facilitated strong interfacial adhesion between the fibers and the rPET matrix, which was crucial for improving the composite material's mechanical properties.

A key aspect of the fabrication process was adjusting the coconut fiber to rPET ratio. The study methodically varied this ratio to optimize the composite material's composition. It involved creating composite samples with various fiber-matrix mixes and evaluating their mechanical characteristics, chemical properties, and interfacial adhesion. The goal was to determine the ideal blend that balances durability and resilience.

In this study, we systematically varied the fiber content of the Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite, using fiber ratios of 10%, 20%, and 30% by weight. These ratios were chosen to examine how changes in fiber content affect the composite's mechanical and interfacial properties (Shesan et al., 2019). We compared these samples to pure recycled PET specimens to establish a reference point.

Our choice of fiber ratios was informed by preliminary experiments that showed a significant impact of fiber content on the composite's mechanical properties, such as tensile strength and elongation at break. By exploring different compositions, we aimed to find the optimal blend that maximizes the composite's desired qualities while minimizing waste. This approach comprehensively understood the composite's behavior (Rajak et al., 2019).

The rPET was heated to its melting point of 260 °C during molding. A layer of molten rPET was poured into the mold, followed by the placement of randomly oriented fiber. Then, another layer of molten rPET was added, and a compressive force of 0.1 Mpa was applied for 3 minutes. This combination of heat and pressure allowed the rPET to flow into and adhere to the fibers, resulting in a dense and homogeneous composite material.

We carefully monitored and controlled the distribution of the rPET matrix within the composite to prevent discrepancies in mechanical properties and structural integrity. Process parameters like temperature and pressure were controlled to ensure uniform matrix dispersion (Kangishwar et al., 2023).



Figure 3.7. Mold inside box furnace for compression molding.

This study focused on a composite sample weighing 18 grams. The sample is formed using a mold that is 50 mm in diameter and 10 mm thick. The chosen mass and dimensions ensured consistent experimental conditions and allowed for precise comparisons across different samples. Following fabrication, samples of the composite material were tested and analyzed to determine their mechanical and physical properties and interfacial adhesion.



Figure 3.8. Coir Reinforced rPET composite.

## 3.3. Laboratory Testing

The fabricated composite materials were comprehensively evaluated using various analytical techniques. These techniques include Tensile testing, Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy, and Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM). Each sub-section assesses different aspects of the composite materials, such as mechanical properties, molecular structure, and morphology, providing valuable insights into their performance and characteristics.

## 3.3.1. Tensile Testing

The mechanical properties of the Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite (CRPC) are crucial for assessing its structural integrity and potential uses. The Instron 5500, a universal testing machine, was used to determine these properties through tensile tests. CRPC samples were subjected to controlled axial loading during the test until failure. This process allowed for measuring the applied force and resulting deformation, which helped identify key mechanical

properties like tensile strength, modulus of elasticity, and elongation at break (Khan et al., 2023). The analysis of these properties provided essential insights into the CRPC's load-bearing capacity and deformation behavior, which were critical for assessing its suitability for various structural applications.



Figure 3.9. Instron 5500 for tensile testing.

The procedure began with preparing CRPC specimens using standardized dimensions and configurations, typically measuring 50 mm by 10 mm. These specimens were carefully mounted onto the grips of the universal testing machine, ensuring proper alignment to prevent any potential stress concentrations or premature failures. Once secured, the machine applied a gradually increasing tensile force to the specimens at a controlled rate, typically 10 mm/min.



Figure 3.10. CRPC dog bone-shaped samples.

When tensile force was applied, the CRPC samples deformed along the loading axis until they reached failure, marked by a sudden decrease in the applied force, signaling the material's rupture. The force-displacement curve generated during testing extracted key mechanical properties.

Tensile testing was used to evaluate the CRPC's performance under tension quantitatively, supplying crucial design and material selection data. By comparing the test results of CRPCs with different fiber-to-matrix ratios, we could understand their relative performance and potential benefits in various applications.

#### 3.3.2. Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy

Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy provided detailed insights into the chemical composition of the composite by identifying functional groups and bond structures through the analysis of their Infrared (IR) absorption bands (Kathiresan & Meenakshisundaram, 2022). FTIR is particularly effective in detecting chemical interactions between fibers and the matrix, helping us understand component compatibility and bonding mechanisms. (da Silva et al.,

2012). This understanding is crucial for studying the complex dynamics between coirreinforcing fibers and the rPET matrix.

Thin solid CRPC samples were placed in IRSpirit FTIR Spectrophotometer with QATR-S (Shimadzu Corporation, Japan) FTIR was invaluable in determining the chemical compositions of both unaltered and modified natural fibers and provides essential data on their super-molecular structure (Fan et al., 2012).



Figure 3.11. IRSpirit FTIR Spectrophotometer.

In addition to composite analysis, FTIR was used to conduct individual analyses on the composite samples and compared them to established baseline spectra of PET and coir. This comparative approach helped distinguish the unique spectral features of each material from the composite spectra. Comparing the FTIR spectra of the composite samples to PET, and coir elucidated any shifts or modifications in chemical composition induced by the composite fabrication process.

#### 3.3.3. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) is a comprehensive analytical tool used to examine the Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite (CRPC) microstructure at high magnification and resolution. It played a crucial role in evaluating the interfacial adhesion between coconut fibers and the rPET matrix, a key factor influencing the CRPC's mechanical strength and long-term durability.

SEM revealed the microscopic interactions between the fibers and the matrix, essential for understanding how these interactions influenced the composite's overall properties (Khan et al., 2023). It also provided high-resolution images of the composite's surface topography to identify any surface irregularities that could impact its performance (Zhao et al., 2023).

The SEM analysis process involved careful sample preparation to ensure optimal imaging results. The fractured surface of the samples from tensile testing were viewed under the SEM. Given the non-conductive nature of the materials, the samples were coated to ensure proper electron conduction and prevent the charging of the composite. Imaging parameters such as accelerating voltage, beam current, and working distance were meticulously calibrated to maximize image clarity and resolution.



Figure 3.12. Scanning Electron Microscope, JSM-7000F.

Detailed micrographs obtained from SEM provided valuable insights into the material's microstructure, which significantly affected the composite's macroscopic characteristics. These comprehensive micrographs also offered a view of the interface region's morphology, roughness, and integrity (Zhao et al., 2023). By visually examining the interface, the quality of

bonding between the fibers and matrix, the presence of any voids or defects, and the overall interfacial adhesion were assessed, providing a comprehensive understanding of the interfacial adhesion in CRPC.

#### **3.4.** Data Analysis

The mechanical, chemical, and morphological data derived from testing Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite (CRPC) samples underwent a thorough examination to discern any notable discrepancies among the assessed composite formulations. The primary objective of this analysis was to unveil the chemical interaction of the two materials and the influence of varying ratios of coconut fiber to PET on the mechanical attributes and the composite material's morphology.

#### 3.4.1. Mechanical Testing Data Analysis

The data from the tensile tests were analyzed using Microsoft Office Excel. This software facilitated the calculation of key mechanical properties such as tensile strength, modulus of elasticity, and elongation at break. It also allowed for a comparative analysis of CRPCs with different fiber-to-matrix ratios, providing insights into their relative performance and potential benefits in various applications.

#### 3.4.2. Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) Spectroscopy Analysis

The FTIR spectra were analyzed using Microsoft Office Excel. This software helped identify the fibers' functional groups and bond structures through the raw data of Infrared (IR) absorption band peaks. It also revealed the most typical absorption bands of specific molecular components of natural fibers, aiding in understanding the interaction between the natural fiber and the polymer matrix.

#### 3.4.3. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) Data Analysis

In addition to analyzing tensile and FTIR data, an assessment through Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) imaging was undertaken to delve into the interfacial bonding dynamics between coconut fibers and the PET matrix. The SEM images were analyzed visually. This detailed the CRPC's microstructure, including the interfacial adhesion between coconut fibers and the morphology of the fibers and the matrix. It also helped identify surface irregularities that could impact the composite's performance.

The SEM images were thoroughly examined, focusing on capturing and interpreting subtle nuances in the interface between the coconut fibers and the PET matrix. SEM imaging helped pinpoint regions of inadequate bonding or structural irregularities in fiber orientation (including alignment and dispersion) and voids or discontinuities. By scrutinizing these aspects, valuable insights are gained into the effectiveness of different composite formulations in achieving optimal interfacial bonding.

### 3.5. Methodological Limitations

We faced several challenges while developing recycled PET and coconut fiber composites. Compression issues during fabrication were a common problem, likely due to factors like temperature (Delgado et al., 2019), pressure (Lokesh et al., 2023), and material properties( Baran et al., 2017). We addressed this by adjusting the compression force. Residual stresses and distortions within the composites were another concern. These can cause deformations and cracks, especially during assembly. Predicting these distortions was crucial to maintaining the composite's integrity.

Temperature and pressure management were key to the quality of the components. As per Darcy's law, resin flow, which affects the impregnation of fibrous preforms in Liquid Composite Molding (LCM), depends on pressure gradient, reinforcement geometry, and resin viscosity (Rubino et al., 2022). Careful control of these parameters was necessary for high-quality, void-free laminates. These challenges highlighted the complexities of composite fabrication and the need for precise process control and optimization to develop natural fiber reinforced polymer composites.

The methods used in this study gave a thorough approach to the study of Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite. Each step, from material selection and preparation to composite characterization and testing, was planned to ensure the results' dependability and validity. Employing advanced analytical techniques and software in data analysis increased the accuracy of the results. This allowed for a full understanding of the composite's mechanical characteristics, microstructure, and chemical composition.

## 4. Results

This chapter outlines the results from the characterization described in the methodology. The goal was to determine the composite's mechanical properties, detect the functional groups present within the composite and study the morphology of the fabricated composite samples.

Following fabrication, a tensile test was conducted to evaluate its strength and ductility. Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) was employed to study the composite's morphology and composition, and Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) Spectroscopy was used to analyze the chemical composition.

Finally, a thorough analysis of the collected data. The subsequent sections will provide detailed findings from characterizing the CRPC, offering insights into the composite's properties.

## 4.1. Tensile Properties of Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite

The main goal of tensile testing was to determine the material's mechanical properties, especially strength and ductility. In this research, the tensile test was conducted following standard procedures. The data collected from the tensile tests provided valuable insights into the mechanical properties of the composite materials. The stress-strain curves in Figure 4.1 show the material's behavior under tension.



Figure 4.1. Stress-strain curves of Coir-Reinforced rPET Composites at various fiber ratios.

The graph depicts the stress-strain curves for composites with 0%, 10%, 20%, and 30% fiber weight content. Each curve illustrates a distinct behavior under applied force, indicating variations in strength and elasticity. The maximum stress observed in the stress-strain curve corresponds to the material's ultimate tensile strength, and the strain at this maximum stress point indicates the material's ductility. One common observation among all the samples is the sudden failure of the material.

Composite materials with varying weight percentages of coconut fibers demonstrated different mechanical properties. The composite with 0-weight % fiber, essentially pure PET, showed the least resistance to tensile stress at 3.98 MPa. The lower resistance of the pure PET composite is evident from its lower peak stress value on the stress-strain curve. Compared to other composites, the pure PET composite exhibits the lowest ductility.

The composite showed improved strength by adding 10-weight % coir, as shown by a higher peak stress value of 9.43 MPa. on the curve. The composite with 20-weight % coir fibers demonstrated improved strength, with a high peak stress value of 8.42 MPa, slightly lower than the peak observed at 10-weight % fiber content. As the coconut fiber content increased to 30-weight .% fiber, we observe a decline in the ultimate tensile strength of 5.00 MPa.



Figure 4.2. Ultimate Tensile Strength.



Figure 4.3. Elongation at the break.

For the elongation at break, the extracted data reveals a progression of changes across different levels. At 0-weight % fiber, the elongation percentage begins at approximately 3%. A slight decrease to 2.55 % is observed as we move to the 10-weight %. There is a significant increase with the 20-weight %, where the elongation break surges to about 5%. Finally, in the 30-weight % fiber level, there is a minor reduction in the elongation to approximately 4.75%.



Figure 4.4. Yield strength.

Upon analyzing the data, it was observed that progressing from 0 to 10-weight % fiber content, there was a slight enhancement in yield strength, from 1.59 Mpa to 1.67 Mpa. However, this declines in the 20% and 30%-weight % fiber samples. The values decrease to 1.26 Mpa and 1.18 Mpa, respectively.





The bar graph illustrates Young's Modulus in MPa for different fiber percentages. At 0-weight % fiber, the modulus is 272.81 MPa. As the fiber percentage increases to 10-weight %, there

is a slight rise in the modulus 282 MPa. The trend continues at 20-weight % fiber, with the modulus reaching 286 MPa. The peak is observed at 30-weight % fiber, where the modulus is approximately 296 MPa.

## 4.2. Morphology of Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite

Specimens of the CRPC material prepared using the conventional fabrication method outlined in Section 3.3 were subjected to SEM analysis. The morphology of the composite material was examined in detail using scanning electron microscopy (SEM). As depicted in Figure 3.8, the coconut fibers were observed to be randomly oriented within the recycled PET matrix. The SEM images revealed that the fibers exhibited varying diameters.







Figure 4.6 (a, b and c). SEM images of 10-weight % fiber.

In Figure 4.6. (c), the coconut fibers are visible and appear well integrated within the PET matrix. In Figure 4.6. (b), we observe a rough and irregular surface texture of the recycled PET matrix. The porous nature of the fiber is particularly notable in Figure 4.6. Figure 4.6. (a) shows good integration between the coir reinforcements and the PET matrix.







Figure 4.7 (a, b and c). SEM images of 20-weight % fiber.

As the ratio of coconut fiber to rPET increases, a notable augmentation in the coverage of coconut fiber in the composite material matrix is observed. In Figure 4.7, the images reveal a significant observation about the interaction between the coir fibers and the PET matrix in the composite with 20% fiber content. It is evident from 4.7. (b) the PET matrix flows to fill the

pores of the coir fibers, indicating good compatibility between the two materials. 4.7. (c) clearly shows the surfaces of the coir fibers and the PET matrix and how they bond together.



Figure 4.7. (a) shows a random orientation of the coconut fibers within the PET matrix.



Figure 4.8 (a, b, c). SEM images of 30-weight % fiber.

Figure 4.8. (a) shows a high weight percent of coconut fibers, exhibiting a random orientation. However, a notable observation across all three images is the inconsistent bonding between the PET matrix and the coir fibers. While some regions show the PET matrix adhering to the fibers, indicating a degree of compatibility, there are also areas where the matrix does not bond with the fibers. Figure 4.8. (c) shows that the PET matrix does not fill or encapsulate the fibers, leaving noticeable voids or gaps between the fiber and matrix interfaces.

SEM images of sections derived from coconut fibers and rPET composites reveal significant variations in morphology depending on the coconut fiber content. A uniform fiber dispersion and matrix adhesion is observed at lower loadings, while higher loadings exhibit a low degree of adhesion between the coconut fibers and the rPET matrix.

## 4.3 FTIR of Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite

This section explored the FTIR analysis of coconut fiber and recycled PET composite material to understand the impact of coconut fiber, rPET, on the composite's chemical composition. The detection of molecular interactions within the composite material is of significant interest, indicating the infiltration of PET chains between the layers of coconut fiber. The obtained FTIR spectra are presented in Figure 4.9.



Figure 4.9. FTIR of CRPC shows the various absorbance peaks and wavenumbers.

Analysis of the FTIR spectra revealed peaks indicative of chemical bonding between the coconut fiber and rPET matrix. Specifically, characteristic absorption bands associated with functional groups in coconut fiber and PET were observed, suggesting strong intermolecular interactions between the two components. Moreover, peak intensity and frequency variations were noted, corresponding to changes in composition and processing parameters.

Peaks (cm <sup>-1</sup> )	Possible functional Groups
1712	C=O stretching.
1574	Vibrations aromatic skeleton with stretch C=C.
1504	Aromatic skeletal due to lignin (C=C).
1444	Stretching C-O group deformation of O-H group and bending and wagging vibrational modes of ethylene glycol segment.
1407-1368	Bending wagging vibrational modes of ethylene glycol regiment.
1341	С-Н.
1234	Terephthalate groups OOC C6H4-COO.
1087	Methylene group and vibration of ester C-O bond.

Table 3. Functional Groups and Corresponding Wavenumbers.

1036	Ring skeletal C-O & C-C stretching.
1015	Aromatic bands.
965	Aromatic rings 1,2,3,4,5, tetra replaced.
873	C-O-C in plane symmetric.
789	Out of plane C-H and O-H bending.
721	Aromatic bands.

The FTIR spectrum presents four significant peaks. The peak around 1700 cm<sup>-1</sup>, typically indicative of a carbonyl group (C=O), could suggest the presence of aldehydes, ketones, carboxylic acids, esters, or amides. This peak is observed at 1721 cm<sup>-1</sup> in PET and 1716 cm<sup>-1</sup> in coir, indicating the presence of ester groups. The peak around 1100 cm<sup>-1</sup>, potentially corresponding to the stretching vibration of C-O single bonds and suggesting the presence of alcohols, ethers, esters, or carboxylic acids, is observed at the same wavenumber in PET and about 1207 cm<sup>-1</sup> in coir. Lastly, the peak at 1234 cm<sup>-1</sup> belonging to the Terephthalate groups (OOC C6H4-COO) mainly found in the functional groups of PET. Peaks below 700 cm<sup>-1</sup> are often linked to bending or deformation vibrations of functional groups involving multiple atoms, such as -C-C-C bending.

# **5. Discussion**

This chapter discusses the findings from the experimental results presented in Chapter 4. The discussion concerns the mechanical properties, Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) analysis, and Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) observations of the composites with varying weight percentages of coconut fibers.

The addition of coconut fibers influenced the mechanical properties of the composites. The composite with no fibers (pure PET) had the lowest tensile stress resistance, suggesting less ductility than other composites. With an increase in fiber content to 10 and 20-weight % fiber, there was a significant enhancement in strength, as shown by the higher peak stress values on the stress-strain curve. The ultimate tensile strength increased with the fiber content up to 20%, but a decrease was noted at 30-weight% fiber. The observation that coconut fibers can enhance the composite's mechanical properties suggests there might be an optimal fiber content beyond which the properties could deteriorate.

Th initial response from the yield strength data suggests that including the fiber contributes to the composite's ability to withstand stress. However, the decline with the 20 and 30-weight % fiber suggests an optimal range where addition of the fiber positively impacts the yield strength. The sudden drop in the stress in all the materials suggests a brittle failure. This could be because of recycling the PET which caused the material to become brittle. However, we observed from the curves how the random orientation of the fibers shows an even distribution of the material properties based on the data extracted from the tensile test.

The FTIR spectrum analysis revealed the chemical structure of the composites. A prominent peak at 1712 cm<sup>-1</sup> indicates C=O stretching vibrations, which are characteristic of ester groups and are primarily derived from the composite's Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) component. Another peak at 1234 cm<sup>-1</sup> belonging to the terephthalate group (OOCC6H4-COO) confirms PET's dominance in the composite. The absorption band at 1574 cm<sup>-1</sup> indicates vibrations in the aromatic skeleton with stretching of C=C bonds, underlining the aromatic nature of PET's structure. The peak at 1036 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponds to ring skeletal C-O and C-C stretching, further emphasizing the aromatic character of the composite.

A complex peak from 1341 cm<sup>-1</sup> to 1444 cm<sup>-1</sup> reveals stretching C-O group deformations of O-H groups and the ethylene glycol segment's bending or wagging vibrational modes. These results suggest the existence of hydroxyl-containing groups, which could be attributed to the presence of PET and some coconut fibers in the composite. However, the peak at 1087 cm<sup>-1</sup> corresponds to vibrations of ester C-O bonds and methylene (CH2) groups, aligning with PET's chemical structure. Alongside, the peak supports the presence of aromatic rings with various tetra-substituted carbon atoms at 965 cm<sup>-1</sup>. The broad peak at 789 cm<sup>-1</sup> indicates out-of-plane bending modes of C-H and O-H groups, suggesting the potential presence of components other than PET. These could be related to the coconut fibers. This observation might suggest that the PET component predominantly affects the composite's lower wavenumber region since it has a higher content in all the studied composite ratios.

The SEM images revealed coconut fibers' random orientation and integration within the recycled PET matrix. The fibers exhibited varying diameters. The visible integration of the fibers within the matrix suggests a good dispersion, which could contribute to the composite's enhanced mechanical properties. The recycled PET matrix's rough and irregular surface texture and the fiber's porous nature were also notable. These observations could affect the composite's mechanical properties and could result from the fabrication process.

The SEM images pinpoint the regions of inadequate bonding especially within the 30-weight % fiber. This could be as result of the thick core of the composite, that is, the sandwich structure. The matrix may not fully penetrate through the core to fill the fibers and achieve uniform binding throughout the composite.

Compared to the images of the 10 and 20-weight % fiber we see the PET matrix flow to fill and bond with the fiber. We observe a proportional increase in thickness accompanies inadequate bonding. The incomplete encapsulation of the 30-weight % suggest a less ideal adhesion between the fiber and matrix. This points to the reduction in the overall mechanical properties compared to the other fiber-matrix ratios.

The study provided valuable insights into the impact of fiber content on recycled PET and coconut fiber composites' mechanical, morphological, and chemical properties. The findings suggest that adding coconut fibers can enhance the composite's mechanical properties, but an optimum fiber content may exist between 10 and 20-weight % fiber. The FTIR and SEM analyses further elucidate the composite's chemical structure and morphological characteristics, contributing to the overall material performance.

# 6. Conclusion

This thesis explored sustainable materials for roofing applications, focusing on the mechanical properties of a composite made from recycled Polyethylene Terephthalate (PET) and coconut fiber. This work shows that compression molding makes it possible to fabricate Coir-Reinforced rPET Composite (CRPC) with randomly oriented fiber.

The study shows that the amount of fiber content in composites profoundly affects their mechanical, morphological, and chemical properties. The pure PET composite exhibited the least resistance to tensile stress while adding coconut fibers improved the strength. However, an optimum fiber content between 90-10 weight % and 80-20 weight % matrix to fiber ratios was observed, beyond which the mechanical properties started to decrease.

The Fourier Transform Infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy analysis revealed the presence of various functional groups, providing insights into the composites' chemical structure. The Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) images further elucidated the composite's enhanced mechanical properties, showing the bonding between the coconut fibers and the recycled PET matrix. Treating the fiber hydrothermally opened the pores of the fiber, facilitating the adhesion with the matrix.

The findings of this study suggest that the composite of recycled PET and coconut fiber holds promise as a sustainable composite material for roofing applications. The enhanced mechanical properties and the good dispersion of fibers within the matrix could contribute to the composite's durability and performance.

This study underscores the potential of recycled PET and coconut fiber composites as a viable option for roofing applications. The findings of this study could have significant implications for the construction industry, particularly in the context of sustainability and resource conservation.

However, there is a need for further research on the long-term durability and environmental impact assessment. Future research could examine the thermal properties of these composites and refine the fabrication process. Such comprehensive research would enhance our understanding of these materials and advance sustainable eco-friendly materials.

## References

- 1. Adeniyi, A. G., Onifade, D. V., Ighalo, J. O., & Adeoye, A. S. (2019). A review of coir fiber reinforced polymer composites. Composites Part B: Engineering, 176, 107305.
- Agenda, I. (2016, January). The new plastics economy rethinking the future of plastics. In World Economic Forum (Vol. 36).
- Ailenei, E. C., Ionesi, S. D., Dulgheriu, I., Loghin, M. C., Isopescu, D. N., Maxineasa, S. G., & Baciu, I. R. (2021). New waste-based composite material for construction applications. Materials, 14(20), 6079.
- Alam, S., Habib, F., Irfan, M., Iqbal, W., & Khalid, K. (2010). Effect of orientation of glass fiber on mechanical properties of GRP composites. Journal of the Chemical Society of Pakistan, 32(3), 265-269.
- Al-Azad, N., Asril, M. F. M., & Shah, M. K. M. (2021). A review on development of natural fiber composites for construction applications. Journal of Materials Science and Chemical Engineering, 9(7), 1-9.
- Anderson, J. P., & Altan, M. C. (2012). Properties of composite cylinders fabricated by bladder assisted composite manufacturing. Journal of Engineering Materials and Technology, 134(4), 044501.
- Araujo, P., Felix Filho, L. F., & Barbosa, J. J. (2015). Study of the thermophysical properties of minimally processed coconut fiber for application as a thermal insulator. Interdisciplinary Journal of Research and Innovation, 1(1), 134-142
- Ariffin, N. A., Haslizam, N. N., Samsurrijal, S. A., Selimin, M. A., Manap, N., Chuan, L. T., ... & Idris, M. I. (2018, March). A comparative study of physical and mechanical properties of wood plastic composite produced from different agriculture residues. In Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management, IEOM (Vol. 2018, pp. 2977–2986).
- Asasutjarit, C., Hirunlabh, J., Khedari, J., Charoenvai, S., Zeghmati, B., & Shin, U. C. (2007). Development of coconut coir-based lightweight cement board. Construction and Building Materials, 21(2), 277-288.
- Autonomous Manufacturing. (2020, February 25). Composite 3D Printing: An Emerging Technology with a Bright Future. AMFG. Retrieved April 6, 2024, from https://amfg.ai/2020/02/25/composite-3d-printing-an-emerging-technology-with-abright-future/#.
- Ayrilmis, N., Jarusombuti, S., Fueangvivat, V., Bauchongkol, P., & White, R. H. (2011). Coir fiber-reinforced polypropylene composite panel for automotive interior applications. Fibers and polymers, 12, 919-926.
- Balla, V. K., Kate, K. H., Satyavolu, J., Singh, P., & Tadimeti, J. G. D. (2019). Additive manufacturing of natural fiber reinforced polymer composites: Processing and prospects. Composites Part B: Engineering, p. 174, 106956.
- Banerjee, S., Aditya, G., & Saha, G. K. (2013). Household disposables as breeding habitats of dengue vectors: linking wastes and public health. Waste management, 33(1), 233-239.
- Biggs, E. M., Bruce, E., Boruff, B., Duncan, J. M., Horsley, J., Pauli, N., ... & Imanari, Y. (2015). Sustainable development and the water–energy–food nexus: A livelihood perspective. Environmental Science & Policy, 54, 389–397.
- Bisanda, E. T. N. (1993). The manufacture of roofing panels from sisal fiber reinforced composites. Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 38(1-2), 369-379.
- Biswas, S., Ahsan, Q., Verpoest, I., & Hasan, M. (2011). Effect of span length on the tensile properties of natural fibers. Advanced Materials Research, 264, 445-450.
- Bongarde, U. S., & Khot, B. K. (2019). A review on coir fiber reinforced polymer composite. International Research Journal of Engineering and Technology, 6(4), 793-95.
- Bucknall, D. G. (2020). Plastics as a materials system in a circular economy. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A, 378(2176), 20190268.
- 19. Cardoso, R.D., Okai, E.N.A., Eshun, A.A. and Haizel, K.E. (2007) Review of the Domestic Timber Market with an Emphasis on Off-Forest Reserve Timber Production and Management in Ghana. Timber Industry Development Division, SGS Ghana Ltd, Tema, 1-3.
- Carlota, V. (2023, June 28). The Complete Guide to 3D Printing Composites.
   3Dnatives. Retrieved April 6, 2024, from https://www.3dnatives.com/en/complete-guide-3d-printing-composites-280120204/.
- Carruthers, J. (2018, April 25). What is Resin Transfer Moulding (RTM)? Wikipedia. Retrieved April 3, 2024, from https://coventivecomposites.com/explainers/resintransfer-moulding-rtm/.
- Chatziparaskeva, G., Papamichael, I., Voukkali, I., Loizia, P., Sourkouni, G., Argirusis, C., & Zorpas, A. A. (2022). End-of-life of composite materials in the framework of the circular economy. Microplastics, 1(3), 377-392.

- 23. Cook, D. J., Pama, R. P., & Weerasingle, H. L. S. D. (1978). Coir fiber reinforced cement as a low-cost roofing material. Building and Environment, 13(3), 193-198.
- 24. Dale, S. (2021). BP statistical review of world energy. BP Plc: London, UK, 14-16.
- 25. Danso, H. & Manu, D. 2013. High cost of materials and land acquisition problems in the construction industry in Ghana. International Journal of Research in Engineering & Applied Sciences, 3(3), pp. 18-33.
- Darsana, P., Abraham, R., Joseph, A., Jasheela, A., Binuraj, P. R., & Sarma, J. (2016). Development of coir-fibre cement composite roofing tiles. Procedia Technology, 24, 169-178.
- 27. Das, G., & Biswas, S. (2016). Effect of fiber parameters on physical, mechanical and water absorption behavior of coir fiber–epoxy composites. Journal of Reinforced Plastics and Composites, 35(8), 628-637.
- 28. da Silva, I. L. A., Bevitori, A. B., Rohen, L. A., Muylaert Margem, F., de Oliveira Braga, F., & Monteiro, S. N. (2016, October). Characterization by Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) analysis for natural jute fiber. In Materials Science Forum (Vol. 869, pp. 283-287). Trans Tech Publications Ltd.
- 29. da Silva, T. R., de Azevedo, A. R. G., Cecchin, D., Marvila, M. T., Amran, M., Fediuk, R., ...& Szelag, M. (2021). Application of plastic wastes in construction materials: A review using the concept of life-cycle assessment in the context of recent research for future perspectives. Materials, 14(13), 3549.
- 30. Delgado, J. M., Barbosa de Lima, A. G., do Nascimento Santos, M. J., Delgado, J. M., Barbosa de Lima, A. G., & do Nascimento Santos, M. J. (2019). The Liquid Composite Molding Process: Theory and Applications. Transport Phenomena in Liquid Composite Molding Processes, 15-21.
- Delva, L., Ragaert, K., Degrieck, J., & Cardon, L. (2014). The effect of multiple extrusions on the properties of montmorillonite filled polypropylene. Polymers, 6(12), 2912-2927.
- DESA, U., 2018, Population Division. 2016. International Migration Report 2015, A Global Assessment
- dos Santos, D. E., Martinez, F. C. C., & Juiz, P. J. L. (2019). Coconut Fiber as a Raw Material for Product Development: a technological prospection in patent banks. Prospecting Notebooks, 12(1), 153-153.

- Dweib, M. A., Hu, B., Shenton Iii, H. W., & Wool, R. P. (2006). Bio-based composite roof structure: manufacturing and processing issues. Composite structures, 74(4), 379-388.
- 35. Edge, M., Wiles, R., Allen, N. S., McDonald, W. A., & Mortlock, S. V. (1996). Characterisation of the species responsible for yellowing in melt degraded aromatic polyesters I: Yellowing of poly (ethylene terephthalate). Polymer degradation and stability, 53(2), 141-151.
- 36. Erden, S. E. Ç. K. İ. N., K. Sever, Y. Seki, and M. E. H. M. E. T. Sarikanat. "Enhancement of the mechanical properties of glass/polyester composites via matrix modification glass/polyester composite siloxane matrix modification." Fibers and polymers 11 (2010): 732-737.
- 37. Fan, M., Dai, D., & Huang, B. (2012). Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy for natural fibers. Fourier transform-materials analysis, 3, 45–68.
- 38. Forbes. (2024, March 1). How Much Does It Cost to Install a Metal Roof In 2024? Forbes Home. Forbes. Retrieved January 6, 2024, from https://www.forbes.com/homeimprovement/roofing/metal-roof-cost/.
- Fukushima, K., Coulembier, O., Lecuyer, J. M., Almegren, H. A., Alabdulrahman, A. M., Alsewailem, F. D., ... & Hedrick, J. L. (2011). Organocatalytic depolymerization of poly (ethylene terephthalate). Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry, 49(5), 1273-1281
- 40. Gallos, A., Paës, G., Legland, D., Allais, F., & Beaugrand, J. (2017). Exploring the microstructure of natural fiber composites by confocal Raman imaging and image analysis. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing, 94, 32-40.
- 41. Gay, D., Hoa, S. V., & Tsai, S. W. (2003). Composite Materials: Design and Applications (S. V. Hoa & S. W. Tsai, Eds.; S. W. Tsai, Trans.). Taylor & Francis.
- 42. Geethamma, V. G., Mathew, K. T., Lakshminarayanan, R., & Thomas, S. (1998). Composite of short coir fibers and natural rubber: effect of chemical modification, loading and orientation of fiber. Polymer, 39(6-7), 1483-1491.
- 43. Georgios, K., Silva, A., & Furtado, S. (2016). Applications of green composite materials. Biodegradable green composites, 312-337.
- 44. Ghassemieh, E. (2011). Materials in automotive application, state of the art and prospects. New trends and developments in automotive industry, 20, 365-394.

- 45. Hamidon, M. H., Sultan, M. T., Ariffin, A. H., & Shah, A. U. (2019). Effects of fiber treatment on mechanical properties of kenaf fiber reinforced composites: a review. Journal of Materials Research and Technology, 8(3), 3327-3337.
- 46. Hasan, K. F., Horváth, P. G., Bak, M., & Alpár, T. (2021). A state-of-the-art review on coir fiber-reinforced biocomposites. RSC Advances, 11(18), 10548-10571.
- 47. He, J., Wang, Y., & Wang, Y. (2016). Elastic property simulation of nano-particle reinforced composites. In MATEC Web of Conferences (Vol. 67, p. 06011). EDP Sciences
- 48. Holbery, J., & Houston, D. (2006). Natural-fiber-reinforced polymer composites in automotive applications. Jom, 58, 80-86.
- 49. Hong, M., & Chen, E. Y. X. (2017). Chemically recyclable polymers: a circular economy approach to sustainability. Green Chemistry, 19(16), 3692-3706.
- 50. Hull, D. An Introduction to Composite Materials (1981).
- 51. I., Cinar, K., Ersoy, N., Akkerman, R., & Hattel, J. H. (2017). A review of the mechanical modeling of composite manufacturing processes. Archives of computational methods in engineering, 24, 365-395.
- 52. Ilyas, R. A., & Sapuan, S. M. (2020). Biopolymers and biocomposites: chemistry and technology. Current Analytical Chemistry, 16(5), 500-503.
- Ilyas, R.A.; Sapuan, S.M. The Preparation Methods and Processing of Natural Fibre Bio-polymer Composites. Curr. Org. Synth. 2020, 16, 1068–1070.
- 54. Islam, S. (2021, November 10). Injection-molded natural fiber-reinforced polymer composites—a review - Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Engineering. International Journal of Mechanical and Materials Engineering. Retrieved April 3, 2024, from https://ijmme.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s40712-021-00139-1.
- 55. Jayan, J. S., Appukuttan, S., Wilson, R., Joseph, K., George, G., & Oksman, K. (2021). An introduction to fiber reinforced composite materials. In Fiber reinforced composites (pp. 1-24). Woodhead Publishing.
- 56. Jegla, R. (2023, November 2). Understanding Extrusion: A Fundamental Manufacturing Process. The Federal Group USA. Retrieved April 6, 2024, from https://www.tfgusa.com/understanding-extrusion-a-fundamental-manufacturingprocess/.
- Jitareanu, A. F. (2023). Conceptual And Practical Differences Between Circular And Green Economy. https://core.ac.uk/download/568031390.pdf.

- 58. Kangishwar, S., Radhika, N., Sheik, A. A., Chavali, A., & Hariharan, S. (2023). A comprehensive review on polymer matrix composites: material selection, fabrication, and application. Polymer Bulletin, 80(1), 47–87.
- 59. Karthikeyan, A., & Balamurugan, K. (2012). Effect of alkali treatment and fiber length on impact behavior of coir fiber reinforced epoxy composites.
- 60. Kathiresan, S., & Meenakshisundaram, O. (2022). Effect of alkali treated and untreated cellulose fibers and human hair on FTIR and tensile properties for composite material applications. SN Applied Sciences, 4(3), 74.
- Kendall, D. (2010). Developments in FRP bridge design. Reinforced plastics, 54(3), 38-42.
- 62. Keya, K. N., Kona, N. A., Koly, F. A., Maraz, K. M., Islam, M. N., & Khan, R. A. (2019). Natural fiber reinforced polymer composites: history, types, advantages and applications. Materials Engineering Research, 1(2), 69-85.
- 63. Khalil, H. A., Rozman, H. D., Ahmad, M. N., & Ismail, H. (2000). Acetylated plantfiber-reinforced polyester composites: A study of mechanical, hygrothermal, and aging characteristics. Polymer-plastics technology and engineering, 39(4), 757-781.
- Khan, M.I., Karahan, M. (2023). Testing of Natural Fiber Composites. In: Nawab, Y., Saouab, A., Imad, A., Shaker, K. (eds) Natural Fibers to Composites. Engineering Materials. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-20597-2\_7.
- 65. Kopeliovich, D. (2023, December 13). Closed mold fabrication of Polymer Matrix Composites. SubsTech. Retrieved April 1, 2024, from https://www.substech.com/dokuwiki/doku.php?id=closed\_mold\_fabrication\_of\_poly mer\_matrix\_composites.
- La Mantia, F. P., & Vinci, M. (1994). Recycling poly (ethylene terephthalate). Polymer Degradation and Stability, 45(1), 121-125.
- 67. Lau, J. (2019, May 13). Injection Moulding | Process Explained | Polymer Matrix Composites | ENGINEERING STUDY MATERIALS. YouTube. Retrieved April 6, 2024, from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ie0QJ6un7Z4.
- Le, A. B. D., Whyte, A., & Biswas, W. K. (2019). Carbon footprint and embodied energy assessment of roof-covering materials. Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy, 21, 1913-1923.
- 69. Li, X., Tabil, L. G., & Panigrahi, S. (2007). Chemical treatments of natural fiber for use in natural fiber-reinforced composites: a review. Journal of Polymers and the Environment, 15, 25-33.

- 70. Li, Y., Mai, Y. W., & Ye, L. (2000). Sisal fiber and its composites: a review of recent developments. Composites science and technology, 60(11), 2037-2055.
- 71. Lokesh, K. S., Ramachandra, C. G., & Mayya, D. S. (2023). Challenges Faced in Processing Composites. In Structural Composite Materials: Fabrication, Properties, Applications and Challenges (pp. 277–290). Singapore: Springer Nature Singapore.
- 72. L.Y. Mwaikambo, M.P. Ansell, the effect of chemical treatment on the properties of hemp, sisal, jute and kapok for composite reinforcement, Die angewandte makromolekulare Chemie 272 (1) (1999) 108–116.
- Macrodyne Hydraulic Press. (2023). Compression Molding 101. Macrodyne. Retrieved April 5, 2024, from https://macrodynepress.com/compression-molding-101/.
- 74. Madden, D., & Marcuse, P. (2016). The permanent crisis of housing. Jacobin Magazine.
- 75. Martinelli, F. R. B., Ribeiro, F. R. C., Marvila, M. T., Monteiro, S. N., Filho, F. D. C. G., & Azevedo, A. R. G. D. (2023). A review of the use of coconut fiber in cement composites. Polymers, 15(5), 1309.
- 76. Martin, N. (2019, January 7). What Are 3D Printing Composites? YouTube. Retrieved April 6, 2024, from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=\_7cA23Orioo.
- 77. Mehdikhani, M.; Gorbatikh, L.; Verpoest, I.; Lomov, S.V. Voids in fiber-reinforced polymer composites: A review on their formation, characteristics, and effects on mechanical performance. J. Compos. Mater. 2019, 53, 1579–1669.
- Mohammed, L.; Ansari, M.N.M.; Pua, G.; Jawaid, M.; Islam, M.S. A Review on Natural Fiber Reinforced Polymer Composite and Its Applications. Int. J. Polym. Sci. 2015, 2015.
- Nafsin, N., & Hasan, M. (2011). Characterization Of Single Coir Fiber for Preparing Polymer Matrix Composite. In International Conference on Mechanical Engineering (pp. 18-20).
- 80. Naveen, P. N. E., & Prasad, R. V. (2013). Evaluation of mechanical properties of coconut coir/bamboo fiber reinforced polymer matrix composites. Sci. Eng, 3, 15-22.
- 81. Neto, J., Queiroz, H., Aguiar, R., Lima, R., Cavalcanti, D., & Banea, M. D. (2022). A review of recent advances in hybrid natural fiber reinforced polymer composites. Journal of Renewable Materials, 10(3), 561.
- 82. Ngadiman, N., Kaamin, M., Kadir, A. A., Sahat, S., Zaini, A., Zentan, S. R. N., ... & Amran, W. H. A. W. (2018). Panel board from coconut fiber and pet bottle. In E3S web of conferences (Vol. 34, p. 01014). EDP Sciences.

- Ngo, T. D. (2020). Introduction to composite materials. Composite and Nanocomposite Materials—From Knowledge to Industrial Applications.
- 84. Norrrahim, M. N. F., Ariffin, H., Yasim-Anuar, T. A. T., Ghaemi, F., Hassan, M. A., Ibrahim, N. A., ... & Yunus, W. M. Z. W. (2018). Superheated steam pretreatment of cellulose affects its electro spinnability for micro fibrillated cellulose production. Cellulose, 25, 3853-3859.
- Nurazzi, N. M., Asyraf, M. R. M., Khalina, A., Abdullah, N., Aisyah, H. A., Rafiqah,
   S. A., ... & Sapuan, S. M. (2021). A review on natural fiber reinforced polymer composite for bullet proof and ballistic applications. Polymers, 13(4), 646.
- Ofori, P. (2020). Peres Ofori Housing Poverty In Developing Countries: Challenges And Implications For Decent Accommodation In Swedru, Ghana. Acta Structilia. 27(2). 35. 10.18820/24150487/as27i2.3.
- Ohene, E., Hsu, S. C., & Chan, A. P. (2022). Feasibility and retrofit guidelines towards net-zero energy buildings in tropical climates: A case of Ghana. Energy and Buildings, 269, 112252.
- Owolabi, O., Czvikovszky, T., & Kovacs, I. (1985). Coconut-fiber-reinforced thermosetting plastics. Journal of applied polymer science, 30(5), 1827-1836.
- 89. Patel, M., Bastioli, C., Marini, L., & Würdinger, E. (2002). Environmental assessment of bio-based polymers and natural fibers. Netherlands: Utrecht University.
- 90. Parkash, A. (2015). Chemical and mechanical treatment of banana waste to develop an efficient insulating material. Biochemistry & Analytical Biochemistry, 4(4), 1-4.
- 91. Potter, K., Khan, B., Wisnom, M., Bell, T., & Stevens, J. (2008). Variability, fiber waviness and misalignment in the determination of the properties of composite materials and structures. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing, 39(9), 1343-1354.
- Prashanth, S., Subbaya, K. M., Nithin, K., & Sachhidananda, S. (2017). Fiber reinforced composites-a review. J. Mater. Sci. Eng, 6(03), 2-6
- 93. Quartinello, F., Vecchiato, S., Weinberger, S., Kremenser, K., Skopek, L., Pellis, A., & Guebitz, G. M. (2018). Highly selective enzymatic recovery of building blocks from wool-cotton-polyester textile waste blends. Polymers, 10(10), 1107.
- 94. Ramakrishna, G., & Sundararajan, T. (2005). Studies on the durability of natural fibers and the effect of corroded fibers on the strength of mortar. Cement and Concrete Composites, 27(5), 575-582.

- 95. Ramaswamy, H. S., Ahuja, B. M., & Krishnamoorthy, S. (1983). Behavior of concrete reinforced with jute, coir and bamboo fibers. International Journal of Cement Composites and Lightweight Concrete, 5(1), 3-13.
- 96. Ramasamy, M., Daniel, A. A., Nithya, M., Kumar, S. S., & Pugazhenthi, R. (2021). Characterization of natural–Synthetic fiber reinforced epoxy-based composite– Hybridization of kenaf fiber and Kevlar fiber. Materials Today: Proceedings, 37, 1699-1705.
- 97. Rajak, D. K., Pagar, D. D., Menezes, P. L., & Linul, E. (2019). Fiber-reinforced polymer composites: Manufacturing, properties, and applications. Polymers, 11(10), 1667.
- Ragaert, K., Delva, L., & Van Geem, K. (2017). Mechanical and chemical recycling of solid plastic waste. Waste management, 69, 24-58.
- 99. Roy, K., Dani, A. A., Say, V., Fang, Z., & Lim, J. B. (2022). The Circular Economy of Steel Roofing and Cladding and Its Environmental Impacts—A Case Study for New Zealand. Sustainability, 14(24), 16832.
- 100. Rubino, F., Tucci, F., Esperto, V., & Carlone, P. (2022). Filling time reduction in liquid composite molding processes. Journal of Composites Science, 6(8), 222.
- 101. Saba N, Paridah MT, Jawaid M. Mechanical properties of kenaf fiber reinforced polymer composite: a review. Construct Build Mater 2015;76:87e96. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2014.11.043.
- 102. Satyanarayana, K. G., Sukumaran, K., Kulkarni, A. G., Pillai, S. G. K., & Rohatgi, P. K. (1986). Fabrication and properties of natural fibre-reinforced polyester composites. Composites, 17(4), 329-333.
- 103. Senthilkumar K, Saba N, Rajini N, Chandrasekar M, Jawaid M, Siengchin S, et al. Mechanical properties evaluation of sisal fiber reinforced polymer composites: a review. Construct Build Mater 2018;174:713e29. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2018.04.143.
- Serrano, A., Espinach, F. X., Julian, F., del Rey, R., Mendez, J. A., & Mutje, P. (2013). Estimation of the interfacial shears strength, orientation factor and mean equivalent intrinsic tensile strength in old newspaper fiber/polypropylene composites. Composites Part B: Engineering, 50, 232-238.
- 105. Shah, D. U., Schubel, P. J., & Clifford, M. J. (2013). Can flax replace E-glass in structural composites? A small wind turbine blade case study. Composites Part B: Engineering, 52, 172-181.

- 106. Shaikh, F. U. A. (2020). Tensile and flexural behavior of recycled polyethylene terephthalate (PET) fiber reinforced geopolymer composites: Construction and Building Materials, p. 245, 118438.
- 107. Shalwan, A.; Yousif, B. In state of art: Mechanical and tribological behavior of polymeric composites based on natural fibers. Mater. Des. 2013, 48, 14–24.
- 108. Shanmugam, V., Mensah, R. A., Försth, M., Sas, G., Restás, Á., Addy, C., ... & Ramakrishna, S. (2021). Circular economy in bio composite development: State-of-theart, challenges and emerging trends. Composites Part C: Open Access, 5, 100138.
- Shesan, O. J., Stephen, A. C., Chioma, A. G., Neerish, R., & Rotimi, S. E. (2019). Fiber-matrix relationship for composites preparation. Renewable and sustainable composites, 1-30.
- Singh, C. P., Patel, R. V., Hasan, M. F., Yadav, A., Kumar, V., & Kumar, A. (2021). Fabrication and evaluation of physical and mechanical properties of jute and coconut coir reinforced polymer matrix composite. Materials Today: Proceedings, 38, 2572-2577.
- Soboyejo, W. (2002). Mechanical properties of engineered materials. CRC press.
- 112. Suriani, M. J., Ali, A., Khalina, A., Sapuan, S. M., & Abdullah, S. (2012). Detection of defects in kenaf/epoxy using infrared thermal imaging technique. Procedia Chemistry, 4, 172-178.
- 113. Torres, N., Robin, J. J., & Boutevin, B. (2000). Study of thermal and mechanical properties of virgin and recycled poly (ethylene terephthalate) before and after injection molding. European Polymer Journal, 36(10), 2075-2080.
- 114. UN Human Rights Council (2018). Report of the Working Group on the use of mercenaries as a means of violating human rights and impeding the exercise of the right of peoples to self-determination. https://www.ohchr.org/en/ statements/2018/04/statement-visit-ghana-professor-philip-alston-united- nationsspecial-rapporteur.
- 115. Valerio, O., Muthuraj, R., & Codou, A. (2020). Strategies for polymer-topolymer recycling from waste: Current trends and opportunities for improving the circular economy of polymers in South America. Current Opinion in Green and Sustainable Chemistry, 25, 100381.

- 116. Van Erp, G., & Rogers, D. (2008, December). A highly sustainable fibre composite building panel. In Proceedings of the international workshop on fibre composites in civil infrastructure–past, present and future (pp. 1-2).
- 117. Wang, H., Memon, H., AM Hassan, E., Miah, M. S., & Ali, M. A. (2019). Effect of jute fiber modification on mechanical properties of jute fiber composite. Materials, 12(8), 1226.
- 118. Wang, H. (2010, January). Sustainable materials research at USQ. In Proceedings of the 2010 Southern Region Engineering Conference (SREC 2010). University of Southern Queensland.
- 119. Wang, H. W., Zhou, H. W., Gui, L. L., Ji, H. W., & Zhang, X. C. (2014). Analysis of the effect of fiber orientation on Young's modulus for unidirectional fiber reinforced composites. Composite's part B: engineering, 56, 733-739.
- World Bank. (2024, March 27). Ghana Overview: Development news, research,
   data. World Bank. Retrieved April 15, 2024, from https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/ghana/overview.
- 121. World Economic Forum. (2019). Making affordable housing a reality in cities.Cities, Urban Development, and Urban Services Platform in Collaboration with Pw.
- 122. Xiao, L. P., Song, G. Y., & Sun, R. C. (2017). Effect of hydrothermal processing on hemicellulose structure. Hydrothermal processing in biorefineries: Production of bioethanol and high added-value compounds of second and third generation biomass, 45-94.
- 123. Xometry, T. (2023, July 29). Transfer Molding: Definition, How It Works, and Advantages. Xometry. Retrieved April 1, 2024, from https://www.xometry.com/resources/injection-molding/transfer-molding/.
- 124. Yan, L., Chouw, N., & Jayaraman, K. (2014). Flax fiber and its composites–A review. Composites Part B: Engineering, 56, 296-317.
- 125. Ye, R. (2021, December 28). 3D printing composite materials: An introductory guide. 3ERP. Retrieved April 3, 2024, from https://www.3erp.com/blog/3d-printing-composite-materials-an-introductory-guide/.
- Zabihi, O., Ahmadi, M., Liu, C., Mahmoodi, R., Li, Q., Ghandehari Ferdowsi,
  M. R., & Naebe, M. (2020). A sustainable approach to the low-cost recycling of waste glass fibers composites towards a circular economy. Sustainability, 12(2), 641.
- 127. Zelinski, P. (2021, March 22). How 3D Printing Will Change Composites Manufacturing. Additive Manufacturing Media. Retrieved April 2, 2024, from

https://www.additivemanufacturing.media/articles/how-3d-printing-will-change-composites-manufacturing.

- 128. Zhao, Z., Wu, H., Zhang, M., Fu, S., & Zhu, K. (2023). Fiber Orientation Reconstruction from SEM Images of Fiber-Reinforced Composites. Applied Sciences, 13(6), 3700.
- 129. 2019 New Plastics Economy Global Commitment Spring 2019 Report. Ellen MacArthur Foundation and UN Environment; 2019 March 13.